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The new Japan Pacifi c ICT Centre at the Laucala Campus
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33,000,000
square kilometres is the 

total land and ocean area 
of the University’s member 

countries

Fast Facts

3.0
times larger than the size 

of Europe

12
is the number of countries 
which own the University

84.2
hectares is the total 
area occupied by the 
University’s campuses

14
is the number of full-

function campuses of the 
University

1,263
is the number of fulltime 

staff employed by the 
University at the end

of 2010

54
is the percentage of

female students studying
at the University in 2010

20,437
is the number of students 
(headcount) enrolled in 
2010 at the University
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948
is the total number of

postgraduate students at
the University in 2010

26,000
full text journal 

titles accessible via 
multidisciplinary databases 
with 24/7 access from the 

Library website

74,447
hits were recorded on the 

International Students’ 
website in 2010

65
is the percentage of
academic staff with

PhDs at Lecturer level
and above
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Our Vision
Th e Vision of the University of the South Pacifi c is 

to be proactive in recognising and meeting the 
higher educational needs of its member countries;

to deliver quality learning and teaching, research, and 
enhance quality in all University services;

to be highly regarded locally, regionally and 
internationally; and

to provide relevant and sustainable solutions across 
the spectrum of contemporary challenges in the 
Pacifi c. 

Mission & Purpose

Our Mission
Th e Mission of the University of the South Pacifi c is 

to advance knowledge and understanding through 
learning and teaching that is both relevant and of 
high quality, and which prepares students from 
diverse backgrounds for the workplace and lifelong 
learning; 

to increase knowledge and understanding through 
high-quality research that is internationally 
recognised and which has applications for the Pacifi c 
region and benefi ts the people who occupy it; 

to eff ectively engage with stakeholders throughout 
the Pacifi c region, particularly with our Member 
Countries, to enhance political, economic, social and 
cultural development; and 

to work in partnership with stakeholders to ensure 
that the opportunities off ered by the international 
knowledge economy and globalising world can be 
harnessed eff ectively for the benefi t of all Pacifi c 
peoples. 

Our Values
To achieve its Vision and Mission, USP values the 
following: 

Students
We value our students and we will endeavour to 
create positive learning environments, including 
campus-life activities and appropriate support for 
DFL students, that will encourage all students to be 
successful, and increase their potential for academic 
and personal growth and lifelong learning. 

1

Staff 
We value the people who work for the University 
and, through investing in them, supporting their 
development and empowering them, the University 
will expect, deliver and reward high standards of 
performance. 

2

Commitment to quality and relevance 
We will provide our students with a high-quality 
learning experience, expose them to relevant 
academic programmes and research, and maintain 
the University as a centre for excellence in all things 
Pacifi c. 

3

Diversity
We value the diversity of our students and staff , and 
we are dedicated to ensuring positive experiences 
and welcoming campus communities for all. 

4

Good governance and leadership
We shall adopt the highest standards of good 
governance, leadership and transparency through the 
implementation of ethical processes at all levels. 

5

Environmental Sustainability
We shall demonstrate concern for the environment 
in all our activities, through creating campus 
environments that are sustainable. We shall 
incorporate environmental awareness in our 
academic programmes and make a strong 
contribution to the environmental awareness agenda 
throughout the Pacifi c and internationally. 

During the next triennium, the University will 
seek to embed Pacifi c values more deeply in all 
its students, through the introduction of generic 
courses which will expose all students to the nature 
of the Pacifi c, the distinctiveness of its cultures, 
regional commonalities and disparities, and the 
values that bind Pacifi c peoples together. Yet just as 
the University expressly values its Pacifi c identity, 
it realises that its graduates will become part of the 
emerging global knowledge economy, so it will instill 
in them the global understanding that they will need 
to compete in the world of the future. 

6
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71st Meeting of the USP Council
2 - 3 November 2010, ICT Centre, Laucala Campus, Suva 

71st Meeting of the USP Council

Staff 

Commitment to quality and relevance 

Diversity

Good governance and leadership
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T
Pro-Chancellor’s Foreword

alofa and Greetings. 
Th is year has been a year of consolidation for 
the University which has been greatly assisted 
by the activities and subsequent outcomes 

of the Governance and Management Enhancement and 
Strengthening Project (GMES) which are outlined briefl y 
below. Th e ultimate objective of GMES is to enable the 
University’s Council and Management to better respond to 
the diverse needs and priorities of the Member Countries.

Legal
Major reforms on the University’s legal and governance 
framework were completed in 2010. Th e eff ectiveness of 
the changes made to the Royal Charter, USP Statutes, 
Standing Orders of Council, Ordinances, Membership and 
Terms of Reference for the Committees of Council and 
the overall USP Committee Governance Structure was put 
to test during the year.  Th is was assessed by the Council’s 
Governance Taskforce which made appropriate refi nements 
with the approval of the USP Council.  Extended powers 
delegated from the USP Council to its re-instituted 
Executive Committee have enhanced the Executive 
Committee’s role and ability to engage more regularly and 
make timely decisions on issues governing the University.

Th e reforms provide the USP Council with a clearer, more 
relevant legal framework, streamlined membership and 
authority to delegate more of its powers to its committees 
and appropriate offi  cers without the lengthy referral back to, 
and approval by, the Privy Council, as required for more than 
40 years.

Financial
Signifi cant improvements have continued to be made during the year to strengthen the role of the Finance and 
Investments Committee (FIC). Th rough the engagement and advice of external experts and direct appointments of 
highly skilled individuals (non-Council members) on to the committee itself, more robust planning, monitoring and 
reporting mechanisms were established. Appropriate amendments were made to the University’s fi nancial regulations 
and scheme of delegation and the quality of information provided to FIC for its decision making enhanced. 

Given the recent critical fi nancial performance of the University, FIC has continued to provide stringent oversight on 
the University’s cash margin, operating and capital expenditure and overall fi nancial position. Particular attention was 
committed to the management of the University’s assets with an insured value of approximately F$310 million. Th e 
University has responded to FIC’s direction to urgently develop a systematic and eff ective approach for the planning, 
management and utilisation of its assets throughout the 14 USP campuses. Provisions for the University’s commercial, 
business and trading activities were also closely monitored.

Th e approval of the Laucala Campus Master Plan 2010 by the USP Council at its meeting in May was a major 
achievement. Th e Master Plan, defi ned by the USP Strategic Plan, directs the development of the Laucala Campus 
to 2030 and serves as a guiding framework for the expansion and improvement of the other USP campuses in all 
its member countries – with the ultimate objective of creating high quality learning and living communities. Th e 
University is focusing on funding opportunities, resource allocation and fi nancial planning to implement the Laucala 
Campus Master Plan. 

Th e Council Workshop on ‘Financial Governance’, at the May 2010 Council meeting, provided members with 
the opportunity to have robust discussions on key components of “good practice” fi nancial governance; integrating 
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“Th e reforms 
provide the USP 
Council with 
a clearer, more 
relevant legal 
framework, 
streamlined 
membership 
and authority 
to delegate more 
of its powers to 
its committees 
and appropriate 
offi  cers without 
the lengthy 
referral back to, 
and approval by, 
the Privy Council, 
as required for 
more than 40 
years.”
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planning systems with fi nancial governance and fi nancial planning; and 
understanding fi nancial reports and statements.

A further review of the FIC terms of reference and criteria for membership 
is anticipated in 2011. 

Governance
Formal induction sessions and a revised Induction Kit were introduced for 
new Council members from 2010, to strengthen decision making support 
for the University Council. Th e Council recognised that information about 
its powers, duties and functions and the University’s history, structure and 
strategic objectives were essential in helping all its Council members to 
understand and fully carry out their governance role.

Th e information submitted at University Council meetings for its decision 
making was also reviewed and enhancements to the structure, content and 
length of papers and reports were made during the year. 

Th e second Council Workshop for the year on ‘Eff ective Governance’ was 
conducted in November. Th e workshops prior to the Council meetings have 
become an important informal forum for Council members to express and 
exchange views, actively engage in open and frank discussions and to raise 
awareness about strategic issues for the University.  

Th e Council’s decision in 2009 to federalise the USP Student Association  
(USPSA) has led to a wider, stronger and more regional representation 
of students at the University Council, the Senate and all other University 
decision making authorities and committees in the 14 USP campuses. During 
2010, branches of the Federal Association were established at 11 campuses 
with three more campuses to do so in 2011.  Th e Federal Association and 
Campus Branches now serve as a regional, more integrated and united ‘voice’ 
for all student matters.

Much work also went into formalising the outstanding University 
policies and manuals for Records Management, in particular Electronic 
Records Management (ERM). Th e University’s resources were directed at 
strengthening the structure, recruiting appropriate staff  and building the 
capacity of the Central Records and Archives Unit to better support the 
governance and accountability of the University. Th e implementation of 
the ERM system at all USP campuses is to commence in 2011 and to be 
accomplished over a three year period. 

Th e duty of care vested upon the University Council is an onerous task. I 
would like to thank the Council members and especially the chairs of the 
Finance and Investments Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee for 
their service during the year. I would also like to thank the Vice-Chancellor 
and his Senior Management Team for their dedication and hard work to 
meet their set targets.

Soifua

Hon. Fiame N Mata’afa
Pro Chancellor & Chair of Council
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I
Vice-Chancellor’s Report

n my Report last year, I indicated that my goal was 
to… create a world-class institution… an institution 
to which all people in the Pacifi c will look when 
quality higher education is required or when quality 

research is desired; an institution of which Member Countries feel 
strong ownership, which they regard as their think-tank; and an 
institution that development partners regard as innovative, cost 
eff ective, reliable and sustainable. 

In 2010, the University built on its signifi cant achievements 
of 2009. Th e new Strategic Plan was successfully internalised 
within the University and its implementation was on track. 
Finances continued to remain healthy, with a signifi cant 
increase in aid to the University. Enrolment, which had been 
declining in previous years, increased by 5 percent, marking 
a signifi cant turn-around in the University. Governance and 
management continued to be improved through the work 
of the Governance Taskforce chaired by the Pro Chancellor. 
Th e regionality of the University was strengthened, with an 
upgrade of USPNet and signifi cant improvements at regional 
campuses. Student services improved and relations with 
students remained excellent. Th e University also began to 
think beyond the current Strategic Plan, especially in relation 
to the kind of university USP could be when it celebrates its 
50th Anniversary in 2018. In sum, the University continued 
its signifi cant reform and repositioning, and there was an air 
of excitement about its future development.

The Year in Review- Key Accomplishments  
Th rough the combined eff orts of the Council, the Governance 
Task Force, the Finance and Investments Committee, Senate, 

the Senior Management and members of staff , the University has continued its sound fi nancial management, saving 
F$4.8 million against the budget target of F$3.4m.   Th e cash-fl ow position of the University also improved. 

Aid showed a signifi cant increase in 2010. By year end, the aid budget was F$62.6 million.  In addition to the 
construction of the Japan-Pacifi c ICT Centre, Phases I and II, and the ongoing technical assistance from Japan, the 
University signed important partnerships with Australia and New Zealand that provide security of funding for 2010-
2012.   

As part of the University’s eff orts to broaden its co-operation, new partnerships were implemented in 2010.  Korea 
became a new development partner with a grant of US$2 million for research into renewable energy, and India gave 
USP a US$1 million grant through the ADB.  Th e University’s relationship with ADB is also a new one, and may 
result in ADB releasing substantial soft-loan funds for the development of regional campuses.  

Th e Strategic Plan was successfully internalised and its implementation was broadly on track. A very stringent and 
comprehensive monitoring and evaluation mechanism for the Strategic Plan was implemented successfully. Th is 
allows detailed monitoring of the implementation of the initiatives contained in the Strategic Plan.

Another highlight of 2010 was the full integration of strategic planning, physical planning, resource allocation and 
quality improvement in the preparation of the Annual Plan for 2011. Th is has given the University an international 
standard of planning integration that should serve the University well in the future.

Th e decline in enrolment of the last few years has halted.  In 2010, enrolment increased by 5 percent despite greater 
competition from other providers.  Initial data in early 2011 show that enrolment will be further increased by 10 
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“Th e University 
also began to 
think beyond the 
current Strategic 
Plan, especially 
in relation to 
the kind of 
University USP 
could be when it 
celebrates its 50th 
Anniversary in 
2018. In sum, 
the University 
continued its 
signifi cant reform 
and repositioning, 
and there was an 
air of excitement 
about its future 
development.”

11

2010
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
EPO

RT

percent, giving the University much confi dence about its premier branding 
as USP education continues to be recognised as meaningful and a sound 
basis for lucrative employment.  USP off ers students regional exposures and 
opportunities that they cannot get elsewhere. 

In a formal function that incorporated Fijian traditional ceremonies, his 
Excellency the President of the Republic of Fiji Ratu Epeli Nailatikau and 
the Japanese Ambassador to Fiji, His Excellency Mr Yutaka Yoshizawa 
opened the Japan-Pacifi c ICT Centre on 6 July 2010.  Th is was an extremely 
important event in the history of the University, as this gift worth F$43 
million from the people of Japan includes offi  ce space, PC labs with 360 
computers, 20 high-end servers, cutting-edge audio-visual equipment, 
and incubator spaces to encourage entrepreneurialism.  Japan has been a 
valued and important donor to USP, and its contribution will assist ICT 
development in the region. Th e second phase which is the construction of a 
307 seat multi-purpose theatre commenced in May 2010 and is expected to 
be completed by end 2011.

Signifi cant quality-enhancing activities were completed in 2010.  Perhaps 
the most signifi cant was the completion of the follow up to the 2008 quality 
audit by Australian Universities Quality Agency (AUQA).  Th is was very 
positive and indicated that the University had implemented nearly all the 
recommendations of the 2008 Quality Audit and was on track for its next 
audit in 2013.  

USP also obtained accreditation from CPA Australia in 2010 for the B.Com 
in Accounting programme. Th e Tourism and Hospitality Programme was 
also internationally accredited. Th ese accreditations demonstrate that the 
quality of the University’s programmes compare very well with programmes 
off ered overseas. Moreover, USP programmes are much better value for 
money.  

Th e Learning and Teaching Policy was approved by Senate and the planning 
process is well underway for implementation in 2011.  Each Faculty has its 
own Learning and Teaching Plan, which guides all staff  to ensure eff ective 
and meaningful student learning outcomes and result in graduates who are 
well-equipped to meet the demands of the modern workplace and also to 
think creatively and solve problems.

Th e Strategic Total Academic Review (STAR) project commenced in 
earnest in 2010 and considerable progress was made. STAR represents a 
fundamental transformation of the University’s learning and teaching 
to ensure that all academic programmes meet the requirements of our 
region, are of the highest standard, sustainable, and will produce graduates 
equipped to handle  the realities of the 21st century and to make outstanding 
contributions in life.  

Th e Vice-Chancellor’s Learning and Teaching Forum took place on 8-9 
November, with a keynote address from Professor Sir Adrian Webb, Vice-
Chancellor Emeritus of the University of Glamorgan, who spoke on the 
topic of “Transforming the University of Glamorgan to Meet Changing 
Needs:  Implications for USP.” Professor Arvind Patel was announced the 
inaugural winner of the Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for Excellence in Teaching.
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“Another highlight 
of 2010 was the 
full integration 
of strategic 
planning, physical 
planning, 
resource allocation 
and quality 
improvement in 
the preparation 
of the Annual 
Plan for 2011. 
Th is has given 
the University 
an international  
standard of 
planning 
integration that 
should serve the 
University well 
in the future.”
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Th e University’s new Master Plan  for Laucala was endorsed by the Council.  
Prior to this, signifi cant consultation with stakeholders contributed to a 
feeling of optimism and enthusiasm about how the future shape and character 
of the University will assist the region’s future leaders to accomplish their 
educational goals.  

A major capital expenditure programme commenced in 2010, which 
includes the construction of a 144-bed student hostel.  Th is construction 
will result in more regional students being able to enjoy the comfort and 
convenience of staying on-campus.  A far-reaching upgrade of USPNet was 
completed in 2010. It was signifi cantly regionalised with regional servers 
being installed in the larger campuses with a transfer of many aspects of 
network administration to the campuses. Th e audio and video systems were 
replaced with the REACT system, which now allows all our campuses to be 
brought together in a video conference, a vast improvement from the limit 
of two simultaneous video conferences previously. Th e satellite platform was 
also changed from GILAT to iDirect. Th e upgraded USPNet, together with 
additional satellite broadband, has made the system three times faster, much 
more reliable, and improved its quality. Th is has equipped the University well 
for rapidly expanding its DFL and online programmes.

Th e University continued to strengthen its human resources in 2010.  
Recruitment of very well-known and widely respected experts in their 
fi elds has enhanced the University’s reputation.  During 2010,  the new 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor for Learning, Teaching, and Student Services 
Professor Susan Kelly took up her appointment.  Th e role of the Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor for Administration and Regional Campuses, Dr Esther 
Williams, was also redefi ned in 2010 to refl ect the signifi cant strategic 
changes and improvements taking place at USP’s regional campuses. We 
were also pleased to welcome the new Head of the School of Language, Arts, 
and Media, Professor Sudesh Mishra.  Professor Murari Lal returned to USP 
to take up the Director’s position at the Pacifi c Centre for Environment and 
Sustainable Development;  Professor Vilsoni Hereniko assumed his position 
as Director of the Oceania Centre for Arts, Culture, and Pacifi c Studies and 
Mr Jaindra Karan joined USP as the Director of Development, Marketing, 
and Communications.  Th e new Executive Director of Human Resources, 
Mr Greg Arrowsmith, spent some time at the University in late 2010, and 
began his role at the beginning of the 2011 year, completing the SMT.
 
Outlook for the future
Both immediate and long term future look bright. Th e University has already 
started the new year well with a signifi cant increase in enrolment. Th e 
prospects for the year are very good, with an ambitious agenda for reform 
and repositioning, especially around STAR. Planning is already underway for  
far-reaching improvements to regional campuses, upgraded research activity, 
improved student services and campus life activities

A grant from the European Union worth €8 million over four years becomes 
operational in 2011. Th is important regional project is a good example of 
how the University, across its Faculties and centres, addresses the needs and 
priorities of its member countries.  Th e Pacifi c Centre for Environment and 
Sustainable Development leads the implementation of this project, but it will 
involve work in all Faculties.  Th is is a signifi cant opportunity for students, 
researchers, staff  and communities in our member countries.  
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“Over the course 
of 2011, member 
governments and 
donor countries 
will expect to 
see solid outputs 
and evidence of 
achievements 
toward shared 
goals.  As we 
travel together 
on our journey to 
creating a great 
University of the 
South Pacifi c, 
I challenge all 
students and 
staff  to consider 
their personal 
development goals 
as interconnected 
with the future of 
the region.”
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Construction of Phase II of the Japan-Pacifi c ICT Centre, which is a 307- 
seat multi-purpose theatre intended to link traditional arts with modern 
technology, began in 2010 and is expected to be completed in November 
2011.  

For 2011 and beyond, the University is planning to invest a substantial 
amount in regional campus development.  New campus development is 
planned for the Solomon Islands, Kiribati, the Cook Islands and Republic 
of the Marshall Islands so that the University can broaden its regional reach 
and better deliver services to citizens of its member countries.  Regional 
campus development will be spearheaded by demand for courses and by 
the increasing number of regional research projects and community-based 
initiatives.  

Th e Pacifi c Studies programme will feature more prominently in 2011 
and, through the introduction of the core course on Pacifi c Studies and 
the Environment, all students will develop their own understanding and 
appreciation of their identity as Pacifi c Islands people.  

Over the course of 2011, member governments and donor countries will 
expect to see solid outputs and evidence of achievements toward shared 
goals.  As we travel together on our journey to creating a great University of 
the South Pacifi c, I challenge all students and staff  to consider their personal 
development goals as interconnected with the future of the region.  

While the future of the University is good, there is urgency in addressing 
some key strategic issues that the University is already beginning discussions 
on. Th ese relate to: 

   the regional role of the University and its relations with national 
   tertiary institutions; 

    how to provide a sharper focus to its work given limited resources;

    how to transform the University from good to great, to be an inspiring 
    example of what the Pacifi c Islands are capable of;

    how to lift the vision in practical terms and build its human resources that 
    will stretch its capabilities to achieve the new vision; and

    how to link into an international network of higher education institutions 
    across the world, but especially in our region, Australia, New Zealand, 
    Japan and Asia and the Pacifi c, including northern Pacifi c; and more 
    broadly, Europe and the US to promote academic excellence, research 
    collaboration, and to provide Pacifi c Island students exposure to
    the  wider world.
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Th e University has already started discussions on these issues and I am 
confi dent that these challenges will be handled to make the future of the 
University even brighter in the longer term.

USP has been a far-sighted and innovative co-operative arrangement for 
the provision of higher education for 12 small island countries. It is widely 
acknowledged to be among the most successful examples of regional co-
operation. It has produced most of the human resources for its member 
countries. It has produced many leaders. As a place where bright young 
people from 12 countries learn about each other’s countries and cultures, 
USP has created a strong Pacifi c consciousness that has facilitated regional 
co-operation and integration. USP remains central to the future success of 
the Pacifi c Plan, and to the future of its member countries as they attempt 
to survive and thrive in a globalised knowledge economy and society. Th is is 
an important message that needs to be communicated more widely to ensure 
that USP continues to be supported and strengthened as an essential element 
of the future success of the Pacifi c Islands.

Th e University has already started discussions on these issues and I am 
confi dent that these challenges will be handled to make the future of the 
University even brighter in the longer term.

USP has been a far-sighted and innovative co-operative arrangement for 
the provision of higher education for 12 small island countries. It is widely 
acknowledged to be among the most successful examples of regional co-
operation. It has produced most of the human resources for its member 
countries. It has produced many leaders. As a place where bright young 
people from 12 countries learn about each other’s countries and cultures, 
USP has created a strong Pacifi c consciousness that has facilitated regional 
co-operation and integration. USP remains central to the future success of 
the Pacifi c Plan, and to the future of its member countries as they attempt 
to survive and thrive in a globalised knowledge economy and society. Th is is 
an important message that needs to be communicated more widely to ensure 
that USP continues to be supported and strengthened as an essential element 
of the future success of the Pacifi c Islands.

“USP has been 
a far-sighted 
and innovative 
co-operative 
arrangement for 
the provision of 
higher education 
for 12 small 
island countries. 
It is widely 
acknowledged to 
be among the most 
successful examples 
of regional co-
operation. It has 
produced most 
of the human 
resources for its 
member countries. 
It has produced 
many leaders.” 
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“USP remains 
central to the 
future success of 
the Pacifi c Plan, 
and to the future 
of its member 
countries as they 
attempt to survive 
and thrive in 
a globalised 
knowledge 
economy and 
society.”

15

2010
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
EPO

RT

Professor Rajesh Chandra
Vice-Chancellor & President

For the work in 2010, I thank my Senior Management Team and all staff  
who have worked hard and provided support in all phases of University work. 
I also thank the Council, Senate, and FIC for their support and cooperation. 
I would also like to thank the Pro Chancellor and Chair of Council, the 
Deputy Chair and the Chair of Finance and Investments Committee for their 
support and encouragement – and their hard work for the betterment of the 
University and the region.  I wish to place on record our deep appreciation to 
our development partners for placing trust in the University and providing 
funds and support.   Finally, I acknowledge the students and their parents for 
believing in USP and I assure them that we will provide them with excellent 
preparation for lifelong success. 
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USP Students by Head Count, Equivalent Full Time 
Students (EFTS) and Faculties

Our Students, Staff  & Region

Head Count by Campus 

Cook Islands 340

Fiji - Labasa  781

Fiji - Laucala  10942

Fiji - Lautoka  1275

Kiribati  668

Marshall Islands  183

Nauru  110

Niue  60

Samoa - Alafua  354

Solomon Islands  2253

Tokelau  58

Tonga  717

Tuvalu  335

Vanuatu - Emalus  2361

Grand Total  20437

EFTS by Campus 

Cook Islands 107

Fiji - Labasa  258

Fiji - Laucala  7170

Fiji - Lautoka  406

Kiribati  328

Marshall Islands  66

Nauru  24

Niue  10

Samoa - Alafua  184

Solomon Islands  875

Tokelau  26

Tonga  273

Tuvalu  123

Vanuatu - Emalus  822

Grand Total  10672

Students by Faculty 

Arts & Law 2626

Business & Economics 3177

Science, Technology & Env 2519

University * 2349

Grand Total  10672

* University refers to Student 
Learning Support, CCCE, 

Pre-Degree units

18

20
10

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
RT

2010 2010 2010



2010
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
EPO

RT

19

Student numbers 
(Campus)

67.2%  Fiji - Laucala

8.2%  Solomon Islands

7.7%  Vanuatu - Emalus

3.8%  Fiji - Lautoka

2.4%  Fiji - Labasa

2.6%  Tonga

3.1%  Kiribati

1.7%  Samoa - Alafua

1%  Cook Islands

0.6%  Marshall Islands

1.1%  Tuvalu

0.2%  Nauru

0.2%  Tokelau

0.1%  Niue

Student numbers 
(Regional & International)

60.5%  Fiji

14.1%  Solomon Islands

7.3%  Vanuatu 

4.9%  Kiribati

4.6%  Tonga

2.5%  Samoa

2.3%  Tuvalu

1.3%  International

0.9%  Cook Islands

0.7%  Marshall Islands

0.3%  Nauru

0.3%  Tokelau

0.1%  Niue

Student numbers 
(Faculty)

30%  Business & Economics

25%  Arts & Law

24%  Science, Tech & Environment  

21%  University

Student  and Staff Numbers 2010

Laucala  1126

Emalus  106

Alafua  96

Solomon Islands  26

Marshall Islands  17

Tonga  17

Lautoka 14

Kiribati 12

Labasa 10

Nauru  8

Tuvalu  8

Cook Islands  5

Niue  4

Tokelau  1

Grand Total   1450

Hourly Paid  367

Intermediate & Junior  540

Senior Staff  543

Grand Total  1450 

Staff  numbers 
(Category)

Staff  Head Count by Campus  
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6

Campuses of the University of the South Pacifi c

1     Marshall Islands

2     Kiribati

3     Nauru

4     Solomon Islands

5     Emalus, Vanuatu

6    Tuvalu

7    Labasa, Fiji

8     Lautoka, Fiji

9     Laucala, Suva, Fiji

10   Tonga

11   Alafua, Samoa

12   Tokelau

13   Niue

14   Cook Islands

10

11

12

13

14
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Highlights of 2010

The Vice-Chancellor of the University, Professor Rajesh Chandra, and 
the Minister-Counsellor of the Australian Agency for International 
Development (AusAID) at the Australian High Commission in Suva, 
Ms Judith Robinson, marked the start of a new phase in Australia’s 
support to USP as they announced the Commonwealth of Australia - 
USP Partnership Framework. The Partnership is worth approximately 
F$32.75 million (A$18.35 million) over the three years 2010-2012 and 
will result in a closer, stronger and more fl exible working arrangement 
focused on the achievement of shared goals. These include improved 
student services, increased research capacity to provide services to 
member governments and people, and strengthened administration 
and academic programmes. The Partnership makes a signifi cant 
contribution to the core budget of USP.

The fi rst inter-university debate tournament was held on 2 
and 3 June 2010. The programme, initiated by the European 
Union (EU) helps boost students’ credentials by expressing 
and generating fresh and innovative ideas. The pilot project 
was also a grooming ground for young leaders to establish 
valuable decision-making and effective leadership. The EU-
organised Europa Shield Fiji University Debate Tournament 

saw two universities, namely the University of the South 
Pacifi c (USP) and the Fiji National University (FNU), compete 

for the fi rst time in such an event. 

As part of the Strategic Plan objectives of greater internationalisation and improvement in the University’s research output 
and profi le, the Vice-Chancellor of the University of Auckland, Professor Stuart McCutcheon and the Vice-Chancellor of 

USP, Professor Rajesh Chandra signed the fi rst MOU between the largest and well-known New Zealand university and the 
Pacifi c Islands’ leading university on  29th of June 2010.

The Vice-Chancellor of the University, Professor Rajesh Chandra hosted morning tea 
for the fi ve recipients of the very fi rst, Pacifi c Academic Excellence (PAE) Scholarship 

Awards on 10 March 2010. It was specially noted that all fi ve recipients of the very 
fi rst Pacifi c Academic Excellence (PAE) Scholarship Awards were all young women. 
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On the 5th of August 2010, the University and the Oceania National Olympic Committee (ONOC) signed a MoU 
confi rming a partnership for the delivery of community sport education programmers. ONOC offi cially represents 
seventeen National Olympic Committees throughout Oceania. The University and ONOC have a long standing 
relationship since the establishment of the Oceania Sports Information Centre (OSIC) in 1997 at the Laucala 
Campus Library. OSIC is a joint project of the International Olympic Committee (IOC), ONOC, the Australian 
Sports Commission, UNESCO and the University.

USP is grateful to the Government of India (GOI) 
which provided a US$1 million grant to USP through 
the Asian Development Bank (ADB). The tripartite 
agreement between ADB/Government of India/USP 
was signed in January 2009.  The major portion of 
the grant is being used primarily for (a) improving 
connectivity through conversion to iDirect technology 
for upgrading USPNet; (b) curriculum alignment 
and conversation to e-learning; and (c) developing 
strategic partnerships and alliances with institutions 
in India.  

The Government of the Republic of Fiji, on behalf of USP signed an Agreement in the form of a 
Record of Discussions (ROD) with the Government of the Republic of Korea at the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs, International Cooperation and Civil Aviation on   7 May 2010.   The ROD outlines 
the responsibilities of all parties necessary for the successful implementation of a  renewable 
energy’ project titled ‘Renewable Energy Generation, Resource Assessment, and Capacity Building 
Programme for Sustainable Economic Development of the Pacifi c Island Countries’, which will be 
implemented by the  University. Korea provided US$2m under this project.

The Vice-Chancellor and President of the University, Professor 
Rajesh Chandra, hosted ‘Morning Tea’ for the victorious USP 
Women’s Volleyball Team from the National Easter Volleyball 
Championships held over the Easter long weekend. Professor 
Chandra expressed his appreciation to the two women’s teams 
for their brilliant efforts at the meet, by hosting them to morning 
tea. ‘Team 1’ which was captained by Ms Mereoni Lewesi, was 
the victorious team which beat off a strong Suva side which held 
the title for a number of years. This was the fi rst time ever a USP 
Women’s team has ever reached the fi nals and won. Team 2, 
captained by Ms Alitia Yaya also did very well by reaching the 
quarter-fi nals of the same competition.
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Highlights of 2010

SPREP/USP co-hosted a Renewable Energy Training Workshop for regional 
government offi cials in July. The International Conference on Renewable Energy 

and Climate Change- Focus on the Pacifi c was held on 6-8 December 2010 at 
Laucala Campus. The multi-disciplinary international conference covered topics 
ranging from renewable energy assessment to technologies and their relevance 

to the region.  It also included a discussion on climate change impacts as 
experienced by Pacifi c peoples.  Participants included experts and practitioners 

from Europe, the Caribbean, Asia, CROP agencies, and regional governments. 

This regional conference on Small Business Development and Entrepreneurship in the 
South Pacifi c Island, organised by the School of Management and Public Administration, 

took place on 16 and 17 September 2010. The Honorable Prime Minister of Fiji, 
Commodore Voreqe Bainimarama, opened the conference at the Lower Campus.  Public 

and private sector representatives met for lively discussion and debate on issues such as 
the management of small indigenous businesses and indigenous-related or jointly owned 
business activities.  The conference underscores the importance of small business in the 

economic development of Pacifi c Island Countries, and was a good opportunity to raise 
awareness on the type of training that USP can offer small business owners and operators.  

The Japanese Ambassador, His Excellency Mr Yutaka Yoshizawa, and the 
representatives of the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), offi cially 

witnessed the handing over of keys to the new Japan-Pacifi c ICT building on 
Laucala Campus, from the Japanese Building Contractors to the University on 

12 April 2010. The Project  strengthens USP’s ability to provide cutting-edge ICT 
services to the Pacifi c region through the introduction of new Computer and 

Information Science degree programs, enhancing the utilisation of USPNet for 
the delivery of distance learning, and supporting maximum utilisation of the new 
Japan-Pacifi c ICT Centre as a regional centre of excellence. Construction of the 
new Japan-Pacifi c ICT Centre, a $US 21.5 million (F$43 million), Japanese Grant 

Aid Project, was completed in March on schedule. 

The Faculty of Science, Technology and 
Environment was awarded international 

accreditation status on 28 July 2010 becoming 
the only laboratory in the South-West Pacifi c that 
will be internationally recognised and qualifi ed to 

carry out microbiological tests. Accreditation is an 
assurance of technical competence and results 
in increased confi dence in the reliability of tests 

results produced by the Laboratory knowing that 
best technical standards have been followed and 
the results are recognised throughout the world.
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On 6 October 2010 the New Zealand 
Acting Head of Mission Mr. Phillip Taula 
and Vice Chancellor and President of 
the University, Professor Rajesh Chandra 
signed a Partnership Funding Agreement 
which confi rmed New Zealand’s funding 
support to the USP for the 2010-2012.  
The Partnership is worth  NZ$13.8 million 
over three years and will ensure close 
cooperation to ensure the achievement 
of New Zealand and the USP’s shared 
commitment to the sustainable 
development of the Pacifi c Region. 

Two separate funding agreements were signed between USP and the Australian Agency for International Development (AusAID) on 16 
November, 2010. The agreements signed were consistent with the Australia-USP Partnership and provide funding of AUD 30, 000 for 
the delivery of the Future Challenges, Ancient Solutions Conference, which commenced on 29 November, 2010 and AUD 1.186 million 
for the second year of the “Future Climate Leaders’ Programme, which provides scholarships for studies in the area of climate change 
and strengthens the University’s capacity to deliver such education.

The Vice-Chancellor and President of the USP, 
Professor Rajesh Chandra and his wife Dr Dharma 
Chandra offi cially launched USP’s Plant One 
Thousand Trees Initiative On the day of the launch 
of this Initiative, 292 trees were planted by a team 
comprising over thirty student volunteers from the 
USP Econesian Society, the USP Geography Students 
Association and representatives from the Forestry 
Department, SPC and USP staff. The Initiative was 
initiated and funded by the Offi ce of the USP Pro 
Vice-Chancellor Planning and Quality, as USP’s initial 
contribution to the Fiji One Million Trees: Our Gift to 
Future Generations Initiative. 

Final year Journalism student, Rashneel Kumar was selected to attend the ‘Young Reporters Programme’ during the Youth 
Olympics in Singapore.  The Young Reporters initiative saw the International Olympic Committee (IOC) bring 26 young 
journalists from the fi ve continents to the Youth Games in Singapore from August 14 – 26, offering them homes in the Youth 
Olympic Village alongside athletes and specialised media training from senior sports journalists.

A MOU was signed between the Legal Aid Commission 
and the USP for the establishment of a Community Law 
Centre to be based at the Commission’s headquarters 
when it moves to Loftus Street in Suva. The Signing took 
place on 8 November, 2010 at the Offi ce of the Attorney 
General. The Centre, which will work in collaboration 
with the Legal Aid Commission, will open in time for the 
start of the fi rst semester in 2011. Image courtesy of the 
Ministry of Information.
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Highlights of 2010

USP and the University of Hawai’i at Manoa signed an Agreement for Cooperation 
on 2 December 2010, which formalised their intention to work closely together for 
the next fi ve years. The Agreement which was signed by the Vice-Chancellor and 

President of USP, Professor Rajesh Chandra, and the Dean of the School of Pacifi c 
and Asian Studies at the University of Hawai’i at Manoa, Professor Edward Shultz, 

took place at the Laucala Campus in Suva. This collaboration will result in the further 
development of Pacifi c Studies at both USP and the University of Hawai’i at Manoa, 

and will enable joint research, joint teaching, and special projects that will attract the 
attention and interest of a wider community.

A new solar photovoltaic (PV) 
system was commissioned 

in Suva on 17 December, 
2010 by the Vice-Chancellor 

and President of USP, 
Professor Rajesh Chandra 

and Dr Norman Barth, 
the US Embassy Regional 

Environment Offi cer for the 
Pacifi c. The system which 

was funded by the US 
Embassy under its Pacifi c 

Small Environment Grants is 
designed to power lighting 
in the student study areas 

and provide charging facility 
to laptops and mobile phones 
at the student fales located at 

the Laucala Campus.

USP announced Professor Arvind Patel 
as the winner of the inaugural  Vice-

Chancellor’s Prize for Excellence in 
Teaching. This award was presented 

by the Vice-Chancellor and President, 
Professor Rajesh Chandra at the Vice-

Chancellor’s Annual Forum on Learning 
and Teaching held at the Laucala Campus 

on 8 November, 2010. Professor Patel is 
the Head of School of Accounting and 

Finance with the Faculty of Business and 
Economics (FBE). He started his academic 
career at USP in 1992, after serving in the 

private sector for eight years.

The International Conference on “Future 
Challenges, Ancient Solutions” was 
held on 29 November-3 December 
2010 at Laucala Campus. This highly 
successful conference attracted 
academics from all over the world, as 
well as the local community, to discuss 
how ancient and traditional knowledge 
may provide some answers to current 
and future development challenges.  
Topics discussed and debated were as 
diverse as climate change, migration, 
regionalism, crop production, and 
leadership.   

26

20
10

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
RT



2010
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
EPO

RT

27

Performance & Progress

Quality Matters: 2010
Quality management and processes are at the heart of all that USP does.  Th e University 
is strongly moving towards performance management approaches in all of its daily 
activities.  Here are some of the quality highlights from 2010.

External Quality Audit Review
A mid-term review of the External Audit of the University by the Australian Universities 
Quality Agency and the New Zealand Universities Academic Audit Unit that was carried 
out in 2008 took place in 2010 by AUQA and USP was found to have achieved most of 
the recommendations in the quality audit.

External Adviser Reviews
A further nine External Adviser Reviews took place in 2010 of major disciplines of the 
University, and including a whole School Review of the School of Education.  Th ese 
were undertaken by eminent professors from leading universities internationally. In every 
review, the good international standard of USP was confi rmed.

Student Charter
A new Student Charter was drafted and this lays down the rights and responsibilities of 
students.

Higher Education Commission
USP was one of the fi rst tertiary institutions to be granted recognition status by the newly 
established Fiji Higher Education Commission (HEC); submission for full registration 
was also lodged with the HEC in 2010 for consideration during 2011.

PVC (Planning and Quality)
Th e appointment of the PVC (Planning and Quality) at the beginning of 2010 
signaled the importance attached to raising the level of quality across the institution.  
Th e Planning and Quality Offi  ce has now reached full strength and the University is 
benefi tting from the reintroduction of the Graduate First Destination Survey, Years 1 
and 2 student satisfaction institutional research and fi nal year student experience survey.  
Th ese will help to improve management decision-making in order to raise the quality of 
the student experience. Th e implementation of automated data processing, contruction of 
a data warehouse and a business intelligence will bring signifi cant benefi ts in future years.

KPIs and Benchmarking
Th e Planning and Quality Offi  ce automated its processes in 2010 and has begun 
constructing a data warehouse.  Th is will enable deeper data mining, production of business 
intelligence and assist in institutional improvement and eff ectiveness.  Th e University 
has identifi ed James Cook University, Charles Darwin University, Central Queensland 
University, and the University of Newcastle from Australia, and the University of the 
West Indies as benchmark institutions.  Benchmark data will be reported for the fi rst 
time to Council during 2011.

Association of Commonwealth Universities Process Benchmarking
Th e University took part for the fi rst time in the ACU annual process benchmarking in 
2010.  Along with 10 other universities, USP produced self assessment reports on the 
areas of Strategic Alliances, Management of Information Technology and Managing 
Student Experiences.  Participation resulted in benchmark reports which will be used to 
improve these key areas.
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“Th e Strategic Total Academic Review was the focus of a 
Senior Management Team and Heads of Schools and Sections 
retreat in September. An across-the-institution Steering 
Committee and ten Working Groups that were focused on key 
issues in the planned deep and broad academic transformation 
were established.”
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Signifi cant progress was made in 2010 in Priority 
Area 1 (Learning and Teaching) on improving the 
quality, relevance and sustainability of USP’s academic 
programmes, an integral component of the Strategic 
Plan, through the implementation of several initiatives. 
Th ese included: the formulation and approval of the 
Learning and Teaching Policy; the introduction of 
new generic courses; policies and strategies enhancing 
communication and connectivity between undergraduate 
learning and research in the Pacifi c region and the world 
through greater use of information and communication 
technologies; increased enrolments in courses off ered 
through DFL and Moodle and signifi cant progress on 
the Strategic Total Academic Review (STAR). 

A copy of the draft Learning and Teaching policy was 
circulated on 12 May 2010 for feedback from staff  
and an updated draft was then tabled at the ASQC 
and subsequently at the Senate in September which 
approved the policy.  Each Faculty has drawn up its 
respective Learning and Teaching Plan which will be 
formalised into a USP Learning and Teaching Plan for 
implementation, as required by the Strategic Plan 2010-
2012. Th e draft Student Charter was also circulated 
among USP student groups for comments and review 
with the goal of submission to Senate and Council in 
2011.

2010 also saw the introduction of generic (required) 
courses. Th e fi rst two generic courses: UU114: ‘English 
for Academic Purposes’ and UU100: ‘Communication 
and Information Literacy’, were successfully off ered in 
2010 to all fi rst year students. Both courses involved 
interdisciplinary development and teaching teams 
and, in line with USP’s commitment to continuous 
improvement, are being thoroughly evaluated in 
response to student and staff  feedback.

Another two new second year generic courses, UU 200: 
‘Ethics and Governance’ and UU 204: ‘Pacifi c Worlds’, 
were developed by academic staff  from a diverse array 
of disciplines for initial off er in 2011. Th ese two 
remaining courses will become operational by the fi rst 
semester of 2012.Th e addition of these courses took 
the undergraduate three-year degree to an 8/8/6 unit 
structure, with no increase in the overall tuition fees for 
a USP degree. 

Th e Strategic Total Academic Review (STAR) was 
the focus of a Senior Management Team and Heads 
of Schools and Sections retreat in September and is a 
mission-critical aim of USP’s development in the current 

Strategic Plan. An across-the-institution Steering 
Committee and ten Working Groups that were focused 
on key issues in the planned deep and broad academic 
transformation were established. Groups worked on 
designing a more focused, relevant and higher quality 
array of courses and programmes; improving oral 
and written English language profi ciency; increasing 
research literacy and skills; implementing a credit point 
system to enable more fl exibility and international 
compatibility; designing student-centred admissions 
procedures and regulations; increasing access for non-
traditional learners; and improving bridging and support 
programmes for new students. Foundation work to 
develop a curriculum with clear learning outcomes and 
assessment activities that build to the achievement of 
agreed graduate attributes commenced in late 2010, for 
implementation from 2011. 

Professor Sir Adrian Webb, Vice-Chancellor Emeritus 
of the University of Glamorgan in Wales, was the 
keynote speaker at the very successful Second Vice-
Chancellor’s Forum on Learning and Teaching. Sir 
Adrian shared his experience of transforming a former 
technical and teachers college into a comprehensive 
high-performing university known for excellence in 
learning and teaching and research that is relevant 
to the needs of its constituents in the economically 
depressed, former mining valleys of Wales. Professor 
Arvind Patel, Head of the School of Accounting and 
Finance, was the unanimous choice of judges for the 
Inaugural Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for Excellence in 
Teaching. Th e prize was awarded at the Learning and 
Teaching Forum in November. In 2010, Professor Patel 
also led the landmark CPA Australia accreditation of 
USP’s accounting programme.

In 2010, the Centre for Flexible and Distance Learning 
(CFDL) focused on improving student learning support 
and increasing the number of programmes and courses 
that are off ered in MOODLE (the University’s learning 
management system).  By December, MOODLE had 
a strong presence in more than 200 courses. It also had 
over 15,000 student users and 500 instructor users. 
In the near future, all courses will utilise Moodle to 
provide a more interactive and enriched learning and 
teaching experience, and to facilitate high response rates 
on the Student Evaluation of Courses (SEC) Survey. 
In August, the founder of MOODLE, Mr. Martin 
Dougiamas led a popular and stimulating on-site staff  
training workshop for academic and professional staff  
who are involved in distance and fl exible learning. 
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By 2012, it is anticipated that the number/percentage 
of courses that will be off ered through Moodle will 
increase by 50%. Th e total number of courses in full in 
2010 was 628. Of these, the current conversion totaling 
331 courses to Moodle is as follows: Faculty of Arts 
and Law: 99, Faculty of Business and Economics: 96, 
Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment: 
136. Th e numbers have increased from 202 courses in 
Semester 1, 2010 to 331 courses (53%) in the fi rst half of 
Semester 1, 2011 marking a signifi cant 64% increase in 
the percentage of courses converted to Moodle thus far. 

Prime among the achievements of the College of 
Foundation Studies (CFS) in 2011 was the off ering of 
its Chemistry course – CHF02 - fully online in Semester 
1 2010, a project sponsored by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO) through USP. Th is success has 
encouraged staff  to deliver many of its courses through 
a ‘blended’ mode using MOODLE. Several more 
courses will be converted in 2011. Th e College moved 
from Raiwaqa to the Laucala Campus, facilitating better 
student adjustment to university life and academic 
success. CFS continued to show growth in enrolments, 
particularly in the regional school-based programmes. 

‘Turnitin’, an internationally widely used academic 
dishonesty prevention tool, is being fully implemented 
across the University. Integrated into Moodle, it 
encourages and ensures students’ ethical and accurate 
research and literature citation. Students are trained in the 
use of Turnitin in the required course, ‘Communication 
and Information Technology’. Within a year, all 
written assignments will be submitted via Turnitin. 
ePortfolio, an innovative tool to facilitate the mapping 
and management of a student’s learning journey, is now 
being implemented at USP, to a positive response from 
staff  and students. Access to ePortfolio can also be very 
useful for USP alumni who, like current students, wish 
to organise and retain evidence of their academic and 
professional achievements. Use of ePortfolio adds to 
their employability, improved employability being a key 
goal of STAR.

USPNet, the University’s telecommunications network, 
and the main tool for enhancing the regionality of 
the University and increasing access and equity, was 
comprehensively upgraded in 2010 through funding 
from the Governments of Japan, Australia and India 
(through the Asian Development Bank).  One of the 
benefi ts of the upgrade is that the University has acquired 
the capability for Ku Band functionality, which allows 
access to rural areas of our member countries. 

Evaluation of the use of mobile phones as a teaching tool 

(mLearning) in the Faculty of Science, Technology and 
the Environment was very encouraging: showing the 
tool’s signifi cant positive impact on retention rates and 
grades. Th e use of mobile phone technologies to improve 
student success will continue to grow at USP as will the 
use of the very popular REACT (Remote Education 
and Conferencing Tool). Soon after adoption, over 70 
courses used the audio and videoconferencing system to 
provide learning support to students in the region and to 
participate in meetings with regional colleagues.

Th e University sharpened its Learning and Teaching 
feedback and continuous improvement system in 2010. 
Two new surveys— the Early Experience Survey and 
the Second Year Expectation and Satisfaction Survey—
were introduced for the fi rst time in 2010. Graduate 
First Destination surveys were also resumed. A pilot 
survey conducted in 2010 of Second Year students of 
their full fi rst year of experience at USP revealed that 
96% of the respondents agreed that Teaching, Learning 
and Assessment was important, 94% ranked Student 
Support as important and 80% were satisfi ed with the 
student services at USP.  Another survey on Graduate 
First Destination for 2010 revealed that 64% of USP 
graduates were engaged in some kind of work four 
months after completion of their awards either in a full 
time or part time capacity.

Innovation and evaluation continue to support 
USP’s mission to position itself for international peer 
recognition and regional affi  rmation as the premier 
provider of relevant and quality higher education in the 
Pacifi c. 
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“Th e University 
sharpened its 
Learning and 
Teaching feedback 
and continuous 
improvement 
system in 2010. 
Two new 
surveys— the 
Early Experience 
Survey and the 
Second Year 
Expectation 
and Satisfaction 
Survey—were 
introduced for 
the fi rst time in 
2010.”
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“Student Academic Services (SAS) recorded many improvements 
and achievements in 2010: including successful recruitment visits to 
Fiji secondary schools; implementation of the provisional admissions 
process; training and transferring the conduct of Admissions 
to regional campuses; devolving the management of Academic 
Advising to Faculties; and implementing online registration for 
fl exi-schools in Lautoka and Laucala.”

32
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Signifi cant progress was made in Priority Area 2 
(Student Services) of the Strategic Plan aimed at 
improving student and academic support services, 
facilitating a robust student body, ensuring a strong 
sense of community, student safety, security and well 
being and improved student success all leading to 
greater employability of USP graduates. 

Th e University recognises that fostering a sense of 
community is integral to the creation of a robust student 
governance structure. Th e University has taken various 
steps to enhance student governance in the USPSA 
Federal Body including the provision of funding for 
capacity-building activities. Various youth leadership 
workshops, such as “Building Socially Responsible 
Leaders of the 21st Century” facilitated by the Faculty 
of Arts and Law, were held in 2010. Th e aim of such 
forums and workshops is to cultivate civic responsibility 
and produce socially responsible youth leaders as authors 
of social change and sustainable development through 
community engagement.  

In 2010, Campus Life implemented several innovative 
programmes across USP campuses; enhancing facilities 
and services including food, accommodation, recreation, 
social, Orientation Week, Open Day and student 
support.  

Th e University began construction in 2010 of a new 
144 – bed student hostel as part of its eff orts to create a 
better learning and living environment and to promote 
greater Pacifi c consciousness. Th is was a signifi cant new 
development as the University had not built student 
hostels for a decade. Additional hostels are planned if 
there is adequate demand. Signifi cant improvements 
were also made to existing student accommodation with 
renovations and the addition of cooking facilities in 
halls. New outdoor seating was provided. Th e University 
placed picnic table sets around the Laucala, Lower and 
Statham campuses. Positive feedback on this initiative 
has been received from students and staff . 

Th e University is committed to ensuring that the health, 
safety and security of students remain paramount 
at all times and that standards are maintained in all 
its campuses. For instance, an Occupational Health 
and Safety Committee was established and a fi re drill 
exercise was undertaken at the Alafua Campus in Samoa. 
Work is already underway on the implementation of a 
Campus Safety and Security Strategy. Campus Life is 
working closely with student leaders and the Counseling 
Services in educating and empowering students on 
alcohol management and sexual and reproductive health 
issues. Additional disability facilities were also secured on 
the Laucala Campus.

Th e USP Community Recreation Centre sports and 
fi tness facilities have been improved and student 
and employee usage has grown. $150,000 capital was 
committed to improve recreational spaces and enhance 
campus life activities. Th e USPSA and Campus Life have 
actively promoted Pan-Pacifi c consciousness through 
various sporting and social programmes that involved 
students, staff  and their families. Many sports including 
20/20 cricket, baseball, table tennis, paddling, hockey and 
tae-kwon-do have been added to the off erings; creating 
fi tness, teamwork and personal growth opportunities for 
USP students. Th rough Campus Life, USP participated 
in community events such as Fiji Weetbix Kids Try–A-
Th lon, Olympic Day Run, Red Cross Blood Donor 
Drives and the Mini Olympics. Th ese included USP 
Pacifi c Market Days, Family Fun Days, USP’s Safe 
Clean and Green campaign and volunteer projects at 
the University and in the community. 

Th e University has also enhanced its support for 
international students to assist in the enrolment and 
ensuring continued support for international students 
in their academic and social development while at USP.

Student Academic Services (SAS) recorded many 
improvements and achievements in 2010: including 
successful recruitment visits to Fiji secondary schools; 
implementation of the provisional admissions process; 
training and transferring the conduct of Admissions 
to regional campuses; devolving the management of 
Academic Advising to Faculties; and implementing 
online registration for fl exi-schools in Lautoka and 
Laucala. Th e relocation to a new offi  ce, bringing all 
Laucala SAS staff  under one roof has already led to 
better communication and greater effi  ciencies and 
service. In August, SAS coordinated a successful 
Scholarship Offi  cers Roundtable to improve the 
support for scholarship holders and accountability to 
sponsors. Another will be held in 2011 as regional and 
local sponsors are key USP constituents. Th eir active 
involvement in USP’s student success initiatives is 
essential to the durability of those eff orts. 

Th e University has recorded signifi cant improvement 
in the student access to computer ratio and it is 
anticipated that by 2012 the study plan target will be 
exceeded. Student access to a computer had improved 
to 1 computer per 6 EFTS, with specifi c laboratories 
at a ratio of 1 computer per 5 EFTS. Several surveys 
have been undertaken to seek student perception of 
USP services and employability such as the Enhanced 
First Year Experience and the Graduate Destination 
Survey which indicated that over 60% of our graduates 
are active in the employment sector. Th e University will 
strive to strengthen its student and academic services to 
increase graduate employability.
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“Th e mandate and vision of its new Strategic Plan 2010 
- 2012 is to develop the quality and relevance of graduate 
education and research at the University of the South Pacifi c 
and to establish the USP as being the foremost research 
University in the Pacifi c Island Region, and meeting the needs 
and aspirations of Pacifi c Island communities.”
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and have succeeded in attracting funds. Some of these 
include the EDULINK Programme of the European 
Union, JICA, KOIKE, AusAID, NZAP.

In 2010 the Research Offi  ce consolidated a number of 
activities. During the year the Research Offi  ce website 
was further developed and is used extensively to promote 
and record its activities.

An early event for the Research Offi  ce was the 
Postgraduate Orientation which took place in early 
February and was broadcast on USPNet. Th is is an 
important event in which all Faculties, Institutes 
and Sections participate and was well attended by 
postgraduate students.

In 2009 various handbooks were in draft form and these 
were brought to fruition in early 2010. Th ese publications 
included material on Copyright and Intellectual 
Property, Postgraduate Researchers Handbook, and 
Ethics policies and associated application forms.

Th e Research Offi  ce compiled the research outputs of 
the University from the years 2001 to 2009 and placed 
these on its website. Late in 2010, the Research Offi  ce 
started to migrate this information to a searchable 
database which will become accessible to the public in 
2011.

During the year the Research Offi  ce organised three 
Research Days. Visits were to:

Vutia: A village in the Rewa Delta threatened by rising 
water levels and climate change.

Buretu: Is one of six rural villages participating in a study 
of adaptation to climate change. Th e study is funded by the 
Government of Australia through AusAID.

Votua: A village on the Coral Coast which seeks to improve 
water sanitation through a project funded by New Zealand 
Aid. Th is Research Day was held in conjunction with 
attendees of the Research Offi  ce conference.

In all, 91 staff  and 55 students attended the Research 
Days and reports appeared in the local newspapers. 
Th ese are popular events and will continue in 2011.

Th e Research Offi  ce has attempted to facilitate cross 
faculty research collaboration or clusters in the key areas 
of Climate Change, Economic Integration, Sustainable 
Development, and Good Governance through the 
provision of funds, hosting of meetings and assistance 
with research proposal preparation. Further initiatives 
will be pursued in 2011.

To have oversight of all University research by 
developing strategies and policies and managing 
research funding including that associated with 
Graduate Assistantships;

To give advice and support to all University 
researchers by explaining policies and procedures, 
assist in writing grant proposals and meet the 
reporting requirements of external research grants;

To disseminate the results of the University’s 
research to all regional stakeholders and 
particularly to show case research excellence;

To enhance research culture, engage more staff  and 
students in research and to improve the capability 
of early-career staff  in research supervision;

Research and Graduate Affairs - 
Creating New Knowledge
Developing its research capacity, post graduate studies 
and output in areas of critical importance to the South 
Pacifi c region and the international community is a 
major priority of the University of the South Pacifi c. 
Th e mandate and vision of its new Strategic Plan 
2010 - 2012 is to develop the quality and relevance 
of graduate education and research at the University 
of the South Pacifi c and to establish USP as being 
the foremost research University in the Pacifi c Islands 
Region, meeting the needs and aspirations of Pacifi c 
Island communities. At the same time the University’s 
mission is to “achieve international recognition in those 
areas that refl ect the University’s unique geographical 
location and multicultural contexts.” (Strategic Plan 
2010 - 2012).

To achieve this mandate, the University established a 
new Research Offi  ce in late 2009.  In early 2010 key staff  
members were appointed including a Research Manager 
and Project Offi  cer Special Initiatives. Later in 2010, a 
Research Student Coordinator with responsibility for 
enhancing the research experience of postgraduates was 
appointed. In 2010 the staff  complement in the Research 
Offi  ce was six, with the appointment of a conference 
planner pending. 

Th e Research Offi  ce has four principal functions:

Th e Research Offi  ce is funded by the University’s 
recurrent funds as well as development assistance 
from various donors. As the University works towards 
leveraging its international partnerships, it is hoped that 
new and more consistent sources of funding for national 
and regional research will be developed. At present, the 
Faculties have continued to develop research submissions 
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In July the Research Offi  ce subscribed to two online research resources. Th e 
fi rst was an Essential Research Skills package, developed by Epigeum. Th is 
material comprises 15 units ranging from literature review to ethics. Th e 
material is available online, across all USP campuses. Th e Research Offi  ce 
also subscribed to COS, the largest database in the world of potential funders 
of research.

A highlight of the year was the “Th e Th ree Minute Th esis” competition. 
Professor Alan Lawson, Pro Vice Chancellor Research and International of 
the University of Queensland agreed to chair the panel of judges. Professor 
Lawson chaired the Th ree Minute Th esis competition and in his address 
complimented USP students on the standard of their research. Fifteen 
postgraduate students presented at the competition. In September the winner 
travelled to Brisbane to compete against students from New Zealand and 
Australia. Th e University is grateful to the European Union for sponsoring 
the event.

In late November and early December the Research Offi  ce organised an 
international conference on “Future Challenges, Ancient Solutions; What we can 
learn from the past about managing the future in the Pacifi c”. Over 150 researchers 
from around the world participated in the conference. In 2011 the Research 
Offi  ce is committed to organising its annual conference at a regional campus.

Th e University recognises that academic research is an international activity. 
Th is year the Research Offi  ce initiated USP’s fi rst cotutelle with the University 
of St Andrews which is Scotland’s oldest University. Th is agreement allows 
a research student to register his/her higher degree at both Universities and 
the student becomes a graduate of both Universities. Th is is a signifi cant step 
in spreading the international reach of USP research. Th e fi rst is in the area 
of social anthropology and the University of St Andrews ranks third in the 
UK for this particular subject. Th ese types of international arrangements help 
bring quality and recognition to the University’s research profi le.

Th e University is keen to promote research in all its member countries. In 
2010 the Research Offi  ce supported two excellent research projects in the 
region. One of these was located in the Cook Islands (Assessment of Cook 
Islands Vulnerability to Tsunami Events based on paleo-tsunami records). 
Th is was in collaboration with Professor James Goff  of the University of 
New South Wales, Australia. Th e second was in the Marshall Islands on the 
importance of weaving in the culture of the Marshall Islands.

In terms of postgraduate student enrolment, there has been high growth 
overall in the past three years increasing by an average of 19% annually with 
the highest increase being in taught postgraduate programmes. Masters by 
research (F/T and P/T) maintains steady growth. But a signifi cant increase 
is recorded in PhD studies registrations where in 2010, 68 PhD candidates 
enrolled at USP, an increase of 33% over 2009. Postgraduate enrolment at the 
University has been increasing rapidly and will meet the growth target set in 
the 2010 to 2012 Strategic Plan of 15% for taught masters, 15% for research 
masters and 40% for PhD.

Much of the growth in postgraduate enrolment was driven by taught Masters 
programmes including the MBA. Enrolment in graduate research degrees has 
also been increasing but at about half the rate of the increase in enrolment 
numbers of taught programmes. Th ere has been noted interest in part time 
postgraduate research degrees especially PhD and eff orts will be made to give 
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“Th e University’s 
innovative 
and research 
capacity is critical 
to the future 
development 
of the USP 
region, and with 
our campuses, 
facilities, 
resources, libraries 
and computer 
labs, the USP is 
ideally placed to 
continue to lead 
the region in 
research.”
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students in the region greater opportunities to study 
in-country and to assist them to enroll and complete 
their research degrees in a timely fashion by focusing 
on the availability of quality supervisors, the provision 
of equipment and facilities, the availability of research 
funding and External Examiners.

Th is year the Vice Chancellor’s prize for research 
excellence was awarded to Dr Mohit Prasad in the 
Faculty of Arts and Law. Th e prize for best research 
publication was awarded to Dr Surendra Prasad in the 
Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment and 
the best student research prize was shared between Lincy 
Pende (Faculty of Business and Economics) and Moses 
Pete (Faculty of Arts and Law). In 2010 the Research 
Offi  ce initiated two more prizes, one for Innovation and 
another for Creative Arts.

Th e University’s innovative and research capacity is 
critical to the future development of the USP region, 
and with our campuses, facilities, resources, libraries and 
computer labs, the USP is ideally placed to continue 
to lead the region in research. Th rough the work of the 
Faculties, Schools and individuals to link directly with 
governments, regional and international organisations, 
and industry, we are seeing greater alignment of our 
research programme with existing needs. 

Internationalisation
Th e year stepped up eff orts in international marketing and 
student recruitment eff orts. Several marketing strategies 
were carried out including attending a student recruitment 
fair in the USA, online and print advertisements, 
and translating the international student website into 
Mandarin, French, German, and Portuguese. In addition, 
USP reactivated its agreement with International Student 
Exchange Programs (ISEP), one of the largest student 
exchange programmes in the world. Two orientation 
programmes and four focus group meetings were held to 
monitor the international student experiences at USP in 
2010.

2010 also brought about major changes to the offi  ce, 
including renaming the offi  ce to USP International and 
the addition of four full-time staff . Th e offi  ce is currently 
managed by a Manager recruited from the USA. A major 
retreat was held in December 2010 to discuss the progress 
of the offi  ce and to plan for 2011-2012. Under the interim 
leadership of Dr Michael Gregory, PVC (Planning and 
Quality) a strategic plan for USPI was created with focus 
areas that are in line with the University Strategic Plan, 
Priority Area 4. Th e offi  ce is headed in the right direction 
and will be recruiting students from niche markets, 
including North America, Scandinavia, Asia and from 
countries throughout the Pacifi c.
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“A number of signifi cant partnerships were formed in 
2010 between the University and academic institutions 
and other organisations from both within the region and 
internationally.  Forty-nine new partnerships were signed 
in 2010. 
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Th e University community approached 2010 with a deep and keen sense of what the USP region required of 
its premier university. Connecting with the wider regional community is an important responsibility of the 
University of the South Pacifi c and a priority in the new Strategic Plan 2010 - 2012. Our staff  are regularly called 
upon by the media to analyse and comment on local, regional and international issues. Th ey are also invited to 
contribute to regional newspapers on various matters or participate in public lectures and dialogues. Apart from 
these, Faculties and Campuses host conferences during the year as well as get directly involved with community 
work, sports or open forums on prevailing academic  and key issues such as climate change  and environment, 
economic  and trade issues, sustainable development, education, culture and development and  marine resources.  

A number of signifi cant partnerships were formed in 2010 between the University and academic institutions 
and other organisations from both within the region and internationally.  Forty-nine new partnerships were 
signed in 2010. Of particular mention are the  partnership framework agreements with the Government of 
New Zealand and the Government of Australia,  a contribution agreement with European Union on  Climate 
Change, and MOUs with University of Hawaii,  University of Auckland, Australian Pacifi c Technical College, 
several Universities in India, JICA, Government of India and the Asian Development Bank. 

From 2010, the University focused on deeper and more meaningful relations with its partners to ensure that 
there are more specifi c and strategic outcomes gained from such agreements and relationships. 

Th e University benefi tted from generous development funding from its donor partners in 2010. Th e 2010 aid 
budget as at 31st December 2010 amounted to F$62.6m.    

Th e meeting of Forum Communication Ministers was held in Tonga in April 2010. At this meeting the Vice- 
Chancellor and President presented an update on the ICT centre, ICT projects at the USP and its work in the 
region. Th e Ministers meeting endorsed that USP co-chair the Forum ICT Working Group with SPC.

Th e Japan-Pacifi c ICT Centre which was offi  cially opened in July 2010 will become  a hub for the development 
of ICT in the region. It will host a number of key organisations that deal directly with ICT.  
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Th e meeting of the Forum Education Ministers’ 
Meeting (FEdMM) took place at Port Moresby, Papua 
New Guinea in October 2010.  Th e University’s key role 
in education throughout the region was repeatedly and 
fully acknowledged at the meeting which was attended 
by the Vice-Chancellor, Deputy Vice Chancellor 
(Administration and Regional Campuses) and a team 
of fi ve academic staff . Th e University made a number of 
presentations: training of untrained teachers, PRIDE 
Report, ICT and Education, Distance and Flexible 
Learning, Open Schooling, and an update on the 
Literacy Conference to be held in June 2011 at USP. Th e 
Vice-Chancellor made a presentation to the Ministers 
on the University’s responsibilities to continuing some 
of the work of PRIDE.  

In November 2010, a major event was held to mark 
the end of PRIDE. Th is was in the form of a one-
day conference where the last report and the external 
evaluations of PRIDE were presented to the Ministers 
of Education. An exhibition of PRIDE products over the 
span of this project was mounted and ended in an offi  cial 
handing over ceremony of PRIDE to the University.

Th e Campuses continue to move fi rmly forward with 
their plans to upgrade facilities and increase student 
numbers.  Towards the end of 2009, considerable 
marketing targeting of new students in 2010 and beyond 
took place. Th e Faculties mounted marketing visits and 
lectures to inform and educate the public and students 
about the University and its programmes and courses.

Th e Regional Centre for Community and Continuing 
Education (RCCCE) continues to attract courses to 
off er and is working closely with RCCCE coordinators 
in a number of campuses where there is a demand for 
such courses. 

Based on highlights, clearly 2010 was a very busy and 
successful year for the University.  Th ese include: 

Development dialogues were held in Kiribati, Tonga, 
Vanuatu, Samoa and Fiji. Th ese were all very well 
attended by members of the community including 
government representatives and the business 
community;

Graduations took place in Fiji, Kiribati, Vanuatu and 
Samoa;

Th e MBA programme was launched at Labasa, 
Emalus and Marshall Islands;

New graduate programmes in Diplomacy and 
International Aff airs were launched;

A Safe, Clean and Green Campus campaign was 
launched across all campuses;

PACE-SD  Training and  Capacity  Building Work-
shop on climate change was held at Kiribati;

Leadership Training for Traditional Leaders was held 
at Cakaudrove, Fiji;

Training and formalising the OHS Committee at a 
number of campuses;

SAS Banner training conducted for staff  of all the 
campuses;

Five Campus Directors undertook Training of 
Trainers accreditation on an APTC programme and 
all are now certifi ed;

A number of conferences were organised and hosted 
by the Faculties and the University on various 
subjects - Law and Culture; PacLII; Festschrift 
for Professor Ron Crocombe in the Cook Islands; 
Renewable Energy; Climate Change; Language and 
Development; Role of Media in Civil Society; Oceania 
Development Network; and Future Challenges, 
Ancient Solutions. Th e conferences featured several 
renowned local, regional and international experts of 
various fi elds;

Implementation of wireless systems at Emalus, Alafua, 
and Laucala, with other campuses being planned for 
2011;

MYOB training and implementation by all targeted 
campuses;

Quarterly monthly meetings of Campus Advisory 
Committees;

Alumni launch at Lautoka Campus in December;

Moot court opened at Emalus;

Installation of 6KW grid-tie solar power system at 
Cook Islands;

Direct implementation by ITS at all campuses;

USP staff  and student family day launched across the 
campuses;

Australia-USP Partnership launch on November 16, 
2010.
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“Staff  development is a critical component in ensuring 
relevance, responsiveness and highest possible standards. Th is 
year funds available for staff  development increased 50% 
over the 2009 allocation.”
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Th e quality and commitment of our staff  are directly 
connected to the future success and development of the 
University and our ability to achieve the goals in the 
new Strategic Plan 2010 – 2012. Th is recognition places 
human resources as one of the six priority areas in the 
plan and strategies are being implemented to achieve the 
goals and targets. 

Th e total staff  number for 2010, is 1,450 of which 1,289 
are full-time.  Of this number, 374 are academic staff  
and 169 comparable. Th e total number of academic and 
comparable staff  at the end of 2010 is 543, Intermediate 
and Junior staff  540 and Hourly paid 367. Overall the 
total staff  FTE showed a 3% increase over the one year 
period from 2009.

Applications for positions in the University in 2010 
increased by more than 50% over 2009.  For 2010, 
e-recruitment accounted for 62% of the total applications 
received, a 50% increase compared to 2009. 
 
In 2010 the University was able to fi ll a number of key 
professorial positions. A Professor is expected to exercise 
special responsibility in providing academic leadership 
fostering excellence in research, teaching, professional 
activities and policy development in the discipline, within 
the University and within the community. Th erefore, it 
is expected that every academic discipline should have 
a Professor in place to provide the necessary academic 
leadership. However, due to resource constraints this 
has not always been possible but the University aims 
to ensure that all major disciplines critical to the 
University’s strategic objectives have a Professor.

Th ere are currently twenty one Professors involved in 
academic activities. In 2010 there were four Adjunct 
Professors at USP; three in FBE and one in FSTE.  
Th e University continues to encourage Adjunct 
Professorship as a way of engaging highly qualifi ed and 
skilled academics in the work of the University.

Th e University is actively looking for new and innovative 
ways of advertising academic positions to attract and 
secure the right persons and some key professorial 
appointments have been made early in 2011.  Th e position 
of Pro Vice-Chancellor Research and International 
remains vacant.  

Th e University continues to experience diffi  culty in 
recruiting suitably qualifi ed senior academic staff  in 
certain disciplines, especially Accounting and Finance, 
Computing, and Engineering. Th is is so in part because 
salaries are uncompetitive in global terms. 

Staff  development is a critical component in ensuring 
relevance, responsiveness and highest possible standards. 

Th is year funds available for staff  development increased 
50% over the 2009 allocation. Th is enabled the University 
to off er a number of training programmes listed in its 
staff  development strategy. Th e University also approved 
three applications for special leave for PhD studies 
abroad and another two for Sabbatical Leave. 
Our current strategy is to ensure that all new staff  
recruited at Lecturer level have a PhD. Current staff  
at this level without a PhD are given the opportunity, 
resources and a timeframe to attain their PhD. At the 
end of 2010, 65% of academic staff  at Lecturer level and 
above had PhD qualifi cations representing a 3% increase 
over 2009.

In its performance review of academic staff  in 2010, the 
University promoted three staff  members to Associate 
Professor. Th ey are Dr Manoranjan Mohanty of FBE, 
Dr Uma Khurma and Dr Rafi uddin both of FSTE.

For 2010, the Faculties accounted for 30% of staff  
departures.  Although Campus Life and Properties and 
Facilities show large numbers of staff  departures, 12% 
and 31% respectively, these departures are mainly casual 
staff  or staff  appointed up to a month on a needs basis 
and this represents a deliberate restructuring exercise.

Th e implementation of the recommendations of the 
major review of the Human Resources section is on 
track. Th e arrival of the Executive Director of Human 
Resources, Mr Greg Arrowsmith, at the end of 2010 
will provide strong impetus and leadership in meeting 
the HR priorities contained in the Strategic Plan 2010-
2012. Work on key processes and systems including staff  
review process, salary structures for senior academic 
and comparable staff , human resources strategy and 
assessment and evaluation of all positions will be 
undertaken in 2011.

During the year, the management continued regular 
meetings with the three unions with issues focusing 
largely on workload for academic staff , salaries, and 
redundancies. 

USP joined the Universities HR Benchmarking 
Programme in 2009 as an Associate Member and 
in 2010 became a full member submitting HR data. 
A total of 42 of the 45 universities from around the 
world who are members of the programme submitted 
data in 2010. Th e 2010 report released provided some 
useful comparative data for USP and the annual reports 
will guide the University in meeting its targets in the 
Strategic Plan.

Th e development of a data warehouse in the Planning 
and Quality Offi  ce will enable much deeper analysis of 
HR in 2011.
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“Th e University is committed to delivering institutional 
eff ectiveness through the highest standards of governance, 
management and continuous improvement.” 
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Governance, Management &  Continuous Improvement

“Th e University is committed to delivering institutional eff ectiveness through the highest standards of governance, 
management and continuous improvement”

Th e University community approached 2010 with a deep and keen sense of what the USP region required of its 
premier university.

Th e University produced a new and more highly focused Strategic Plan 2010-2012 which is ‘owned’ by the 
University community, is strategic, contains the initiatives needed to meet its objectives, and has measurable 
outcomes.   One of the most important developments in the University in 2010 was the institutionalisation of 
this Strategic Plan. Staff  and key stakeholders of the University have become widely aware of and demonstrated 
a sense of shared purpose and vision, and commitment to the USP Strategic Plan.  

Th e University’s governance was strengthened signifi cantly in 2010 through a range of strategies to make the 
Council and Senate, USP’s key governing authorities, more eff ective. With its membership reduced from 45 to 
a more responsive number of 33, the University Council has been highly engaged, prepared to ask the diffi  cult 
questions and deeply committed to the advancement of USP. Th e USP Council delegation to the re-instituted 
Executive Committee of Council has enhanced the University’s ability to engage more regularly and make 
timely decisions on governance matters.   

Two workshops on ‘Financial Governance’ and ‘Eff ective Governance’ were conducted for USP Council members 
in 2010, with the overall objective of increasing Council members’ awareness of their role and responsibilities 
in the USP Council and strengthening their performance in their governance role.  Th e workshops highlighted 
the need for setting a benchmark for Council performance and an agreed set of attributes for eff ective Council 
members. Th e Council affi  rmed its fundamental role in continuing to provide good governance, monitoring the 
implementation of the USP Strategic Plan and the performance of the Vice-Chancellor against stated KPIs and 
sharpening its focus on fi nancial oversight and risk. 

Th e reformed Senate is smaller and more representative with an increased number of elected staff . It is better 
structured and now receives the reports necessary for it to fulfi ll its role in academic governance.

Considerable improvements were also made in student governance. Th e new constitutional arrangements for 
the students’ federal association were implemented, with encouraging leadership and stronger representation 
from students. Th e drafting of a Student Charter was completed in 2010 and will formalise students’ rights and 
responsibilities in the University.
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Th e Vice-Chancellor and his Senior Management 
Team (SMT) have worked assiduously to provide 
strong leadership in the implementation of the USP 
Strategic Plan 2010-2012 and to enhance individual and 
institutional performance.

During 2010, all the key positions in the new 
senior management structure were fi lled, roles and 
responsibilities more clearly defi ned and approval was 
granted by the USP Council to extend the term of 
contract for members of the SMT from three to fi ve 
years. 

In April 2010, a landmark Agreement was signed 
between the University Management and Staff . Th e 
agreement signals the responsiveness of the University to 
global standards for separate remuneration frameworks 
for academic and professional staff  that are competitive, 
comparable, aff ordable and appropriate. Work was also 
accelerated during the year to establish a remuneration 
framework for the SMT with the aim of delinking SMT 
remuneration from that of Professorial academic staff  
and arriving at total remuneration for SMT positions 
capable of attracting and retaining high calibre executive 
and academic leadership for the University. It has 
involved job evaluation, the formalisation of position 
descriptions, and the benchmarking of SMT positions, 
with the Performance Framework for SMT to be also 
fi nalised in 2011. 

Risk Management was at the forefront of both Council 
and Management deliberations in 2010. Th e audit of 
risk management was completed during the year and a 
University Risk Management System and Risk Register 
was established in October 2010.  At its November 
meeting, the USP Council welcomed the submission 
of documents on Risk Management which were being 
brought for its consideration for the fi rst time. Th e 
Council approved the University Risk Management 
Policy, the name change of the Audit Committee to 
the Audit and Risk Committee and the conduct of a 
Council Workshop on Risk Management to be held at 
its fi rst meeting in 2011.  

Strong fi nancial controls were applied consistently 
throughout 2010. Th ese, combined with prudent 
fi nancial management, resulted in a $4.8m operating 
surplus in 2010 against the targeted surplus of $3.4m. 
Th e USP Annual Plan 2011, approved by Council 
in November 2010, also reduced USP Member 
Government Contributions by a further 2 percent.    

A USP Strategic Planning Workshop was held in 
March 2010 where the Senior Management Team, 

Heads of Schools and other Senior Managers met 
to review progress of the USP strategic initiatives for 
the year. Th is was to ensure that Faculty, School and 
Section Plans were aligned to the Strategic Plan and 
completed for 2010. Furthermore, targets, timelines 
and responsibilities, and a set of institutional KPIs were 
established and agreed on for 2011.  Th e Workshop also 
represented the University’s steady progress towards an 
Integrated Management Cycle encompassing planning, 
budgeting, review and audit which was accomplished by 
the end of 2010.   Th e SMT/Heads of Schools/Directors 
Workshop again met in October to review the progress 
of the Strategic Plan and agree on the scope, process, 
and implementation of the STAR project.

Professor Robyn Quinn visited the Laucala Campus 
in July 2010 to provide an appraisal of USP’s progress 
on the implementation of the recommendations and 
affi  rmations made in the 2008 Audit Report and its 
readiness for the next quality audit. It reported that 
the University “has worked diligently to make changes 
recommended by the Audit Panel in 2008 and to follow 
through on the affi  rmations. It is well placed for an 
audit in 2013”. 

Leadership training was also off ered on Laucala 
Campus in July 2010 for Heads of Schools, Campus 
Directors and Heads of Sections in recognition of the 
need to strengthen and promote eff ective leadership 
and to enhance capacity throughout the University to 
fully achieve the targets, goals and objectives of the 
USP Strategic Plan.

Decision making has been more focused, timely and 
strengthened through the production of more reliable 
reports for Council, Senate and senior management. 
In addition to tracking the usual student statistics, the 
University has enriched its data set by the collection of 
data around the student experience.

Th e implementation of the USP Strategic Plan 2010-
2012 has not been without challenges. Th e University 
has recognised the need to develop more eff ective 
monitoring mechanisms, strengthen its reporting to 
stakeholders and maintain momentum. Signifi cant 
enhancements were made possible in 2010 by New 
Zealand Government funding through the Governance 
and Management Enhancement and Strengthening 
Project.  Much guidance and impetus was provided by 
the second Council Task Force on Governance, with 
USP Council, Management and the Committees of 
Council actively engaging in the necessary rethinking, 
reshaping and reforms to advance the University from a 
good to a great University.  
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Council Approved Budget 2010: Income & Expenditure

Government Grants

Tuition Fees

Development Assistance  

Trading Activities

Consultancy Income

Other Income

Release of Deferred Revenue

Interest Income

Income F$

48,924,961 

26,151,529 

27,829,460 

12,081,353 

1,695,500 

6,814,329 

6,134,800 

1,090,000 

Total Income 130,721,932 

  
Pay 

   Pay   

   Pay - Strategic Plan

   Total - Pay

Non-Pay

   General Expenses

   General Expenses - Strategic Plan

   Depreciation

   Provision for Doubtful Debts

   Provision for restructure

   VC’s Strategic & Initiatives Fund

   Contingency

   Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss)

   Total Non-Pay

Expenditure

(57,688,334)

(730,000)

(58,418,334)

(52,074,098)

(1,604,500)

(7,134,800)

(350,000)

(768,100)

(500,000)

(5,998,961)

(500,000)

(68,930,459)

Total Expenditure (127,348,793)

Operating Surplus / (Defi cit) 3,373,139 

F$

44

20
10

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
RT



2010
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
EPO

RT

45

Financial Statements
Statement by Appointed Offi  cers

Independent Audit Report

Statement of Accounting Policies

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Changes in Funds and Reserves

Notes to the Financial Statements

46
47

48
53
54

55
56
57



46

20
10

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
RT

  F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS



47

2010
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
EPO

RT
  FIN

A
N

C
IA

L STATEM
EN

TS



48

20
10

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
RT

  F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
ST

AT
EM

EN
TS

Statement of Accounting Policies

REPORTING ENTITY
The University of the South Pacific was established by 
Royal Charter of the University in 1970. It is a non 
profit educational institution providing higher education 
to member regional countries, with its main operations 
domiciled in Fiji. The registered office is at Laucala Bay 
Campus, Suva, Fiji. 

Principal Activities
The University is the premier provider of tertiary 
education in the Pacific region and an international 
centre of excellence for teaching, research and 
consulting on all aspects of Pacific life. 

Segmental Reporting
The University’s academic activities are regarded 
as a single segment of activity since they are 
undertaken by the same staff, using the same 
premises and financed substantially from the same 
income streams. None of the University’s other 
peripheral activities achieve the 10% threshold 
which would require separate reporting under 
IFRS 8 or IAS 14. As a regional institution, 
the University does not consider reporting of 
geographical segmentation below regional level to 
be appropriate and cash flows outside the region 
fall below the reporting threshold. 

Property, Plant and Equipment
The policy of the University is not to revalue 
its property, plant and equipment. In view of 
the specialised nature and wide geographical 
distribution of much of the University’s property 
and equipment, it is considered that the costs of 
any revaluation to reflect current values would 
outweigh the benefit to users of these financial 
statements. The value of its property, plant and 
equipment is therefore either their value when 
originally incorporated within the University’s 
Statement of Financial Position, or historical cost 
if acquired at a later date.

Acquisitions and additions of non-current assets 
are capitalised if the value is more than $1,000. 
These items are recorded at cost.

Depreciation
Property, plant & equipment are depreciated only 
when they are completed and ready for use.

Property, plant and equipment acquired since 
31 December 1993 are recorded at cost and 
depreciated over their estimated useful life:

Significant Accounting Policies
The summary of significant accounting policies adopted 
in the preparation of the annual financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to the years presented unless otherwise stated. 

Reporting Period
The financial statements are reported for the year 
from 1 January to 31 December 2010.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the basis 
of historical costs and, except where stated; do not 
take into account current valuation of non-current 
assets. 

The concepts of the accrual method and going 
concern basis of accounting are applied. The 
Finance and Investments Committee and officers 
of the University believe that the basis for 
preparation of the accounts is appropriate and that 
the University will be able to continue its normal 
operations in the next 12 months. The Committee 
and the officers resolved that the classification and 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities included 
in these accounts are appropriate.

All amounts shown in the financial statements are 
expressed in Fijian dollars. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”). 

Basis of Consolidation
The format of the University’s Annual Financial 
Statements is approved by the Finance and 
Investments Committee on behalf of Council. 
The Statement of Financial Position, Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of 
Cash Flows are prepared on a consolidated basis 
including all the funds of the University.

1

a

d

c

Motor vehicles are written down on a straight 
line basis over 5 years.

Buildings are written down on a straight line 
basis over 50 years i.e. 2% per annum.  

Equipment, furniture, fittings and vessels are 
written down on a straight line basis over 5 
years. 

e

f

g

i

ii

iii

b
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Computer equipment is written down on a 
straight line basis over 5 years, effective from 
1 July 2009.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

The depreciation applicable to donated assets is 
offset by a transfer from the Deferred Revenue 
Reserve to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

Impairment
Tangible property, plant and equipment are 
inspected annually by a Board of Survey. If the 
inspection identifies that the carrying amount of 
the fixed asset is overstated, a provision is made 
for the impairment. No such provisions have been 
found necessary at balance date.

Deferred Capital Grants
Property, plant & equipment acquired with the aid 
of specific grants are capitalised and depreciated in 
accordance with the above policy, with the related 
grant being credited to a Deferred Revenue Reserve 
and released to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the expected useful economic life 
of the related property, plant and equipment. 
The exception to this is when the acquisition of 
property, plant & equipment is financed either 
through University’s own funds or a loan or finance 
lease when no revenue is deferred to the Reserve.

Leased Assets
The University leases some property under 
operating leases. The rentals are charged as an 
expense over the term of the lease.
Assets held under leasing agreements which 
transfer to the University substantially all the 
benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are 
treated as if the asset had been purchased outright. 
These are capitalised at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease and depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease term and the useful economic 
life of the assets. The capital element outstanding 
is shown as obligations under finance leases. The 
interest element of the lease payments is charged 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over 
the term of the lease.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined predominantly 
on the first-in, first-out basis of valuation.  Only 
inventories which are purchased and controlled 

iv

v

centrally have been reported within the financial 
statements.  Consumables purchased by the 
University for departmental use and held under 
the control of individual departments have been 
expensed in the accounts at the time of purchase. 

Accounts Receivable
The provision for doubtful debts is made as follows:

Government debtors
No provision for doubtful debts is made for 
sovereign debts on the premise that, despite the 
age of the debt, all such debts will eventually 
be paid.

Trade debtors
Trade debtors greater than 91 days and less 
than 180 days are provided for at 50%, while 
all debts greater than 180 days are fully 
provided for.

Student debtors
All student debtors other than government 
sponsored have been fully provided for.

VAT/GST Receivable
VAT/GST outstanding for more than four 
years has been fully provided for.  

For all other debts, no provisions are made 
against debtors.

The amounts required to fund the provision for 
doubtful debts are charged to expenditure in the 
year.  Bad debts are generally written off against 
the provision when identified.

Statement of Cash Flows
The following are the definitions of the terms used 
in the statement of cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, deposits held with banks, deposits held at 
call with banks, other short-term deposits with 
terms of three months or less and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of change in value and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included as current 
liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.  

Operating Activities
Operating activities include all transactions and 
other events that are not investing or financing 
activities.

i

ii

iii

iv

v

h

i

j

k

Significant Accounting Policies 
(continued)
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Investing Activities
Investing activities are those relating to the 
acquisition, holding and disposal of property, plant 
and equipment and of investments. Investments can 
include securities not falling within the definition 
of cash.

Financing Activities
Financing activities are those that result in changes 
in the size and composition of the capital structure. 
This includes both equity and debt not falling 
within the definition of cash. 

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for employee entitlements 
in respect of salaries and wages, annual leave, 
severance allowance and superannuation where 
applicable and is calculated as the amount unpaid as 
at reporting date at current pay rates.  All employee 
benefit related provisions, except for severance 
allowance and gratuity of selected senior managers, 
are classified as a current liability. Accrued leave is 
expected to be utilised in the following year.      

Foreign Currency Transactions
All foreign currency transactions during the year 
have been translated to Fijian currency using 
the exchange rate in effect at the dates of the 
transactions.  Foreign currency monetary items at 
balance date are translated at the exchange rate 
existing at that date.
Foreign exchange gains  and losses resulting from 
the  settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year end  exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities  denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income in the financial year in 
which they arise.

Income Tax
The University is exempt from income tax in 
accordance with the provision of Section 17 of the 
Fiji Income Tax Act.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivables. Amounts  
disclosed as revenue are net of returns and trade 
allowances.
 
Revenue is recognised in the financial statements 
for the major activities as follows:

 Government contributions 
The University treats operating contributions 

l

m

n

o

i

received from Government regional members 
as revenue when the entitlement for the 
revenue is established.

Student tuition fees 
In prior years, private student tuition fees were 
recognised on receipt while sponsored student 
tuition fees were recognised when due. During 
the year, the University changed its policy to 
recognise all student tuition fees when due. 
The impact of this change in policy resulted 
in an increase in student fee revenue. However, 
the University has assessed as doubtful those 
private student fees for which there has been 
no receipt resulting in no change in surplus for 
the year. 

Development Assistance
In prior years, revenue from major donors were 
recognized on due date while other donors 
were recognized on receipt. The definition is 
now more simplified as development assistance 
received for recurrent funding is recognised on 
due date while development assistance received 
with specific end purposes is recognized as 
revenue when the conditions attached to 
the assistance have been met.  Until those 
conditions are met, receipt of development 
assistance funds in advance is accounted for as 
deferred revenue and recognized as a liability. 
This change in policy resulted in an adjustment 
of prior year retained earnings of $6,458,331.

Trading Activities
Revenue from trading operations is recognised 
on receipt.

Consultancy Revenue
Consultancy revenue is recognised as revenue 
when it is earned.
 
Other Income 
Other income is recognised on receipt except 
where a department of the University has 
arranged for a University invoice to be raised 
to a third party; the revenue associated with 
these invoices is recognised on due date.

Release of Deferred Revenue
Release of deferred revenue is recognised when 
the donated asset is depreciated over its useful 
life. 

Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues.

ii

iii

iv

v

vi

vii

viii

Significant Accounting Policies 
(continued)
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Capital Grants  
Aid and donations which are applied to capital 
items are credited to the Deferred Revenue Reserve, 
at the lower of cost and valuation when the related 
capital expenditure is incurred, and released to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as income 
over the life of the asset.

Endowment Funds
The University has established Endowment Funds 
for specific purposes. The capital amount of such 
funds is maintained at its original nominal value. 
The revenue generated through the investment 
of the capital is used in accordance with any 
conditions imposed by Council, deed, gift or 
by the terms of the endowments or bequests. 
Endowment funds are transferred to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income only when no longer 
required for the purpose for which the fund was 
originally established. 

Commitment Accounting
The University operates a system of commitment 
accounting for its non-salary expenditure. 
Expenditure is recognised when purchase orders 
are placed and charged against the appropriate cost 
centre.  

Trade Creditors and Accruals
Liabilities for trade payable and other amounts 
are carried at cost (inclusive of VAT/GST 
where applicable) which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods 
and services received whether or not billed to the 
University.  These amounts are unsecured and are 
usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Value Added Tax (VAT)/Goods and Services Tax 
(GST)
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of associated VAT/GST, unless VAT/
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax 
Authority. In this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or part of the 
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of VAT/GST, receivable or payable. 
The net amount of VAT/GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the Tax Authority is included in 
other receivables or payables in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Superannuation Funds  
The University contributes to a number of defined 
contribution superannuation schemes. 
Contributions are made by employees and by the 
University as a percentage of salary or specified 
amounts as required by relevant agreements. The 
cost to the University is charged as an expense at 
the time it is incurred.

Other Current Financial Assets  
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities of 
more than three months are classified as other 
current financial assets when the University has 
the positive intention and ability to hold it to 
maturity. After initial measurement, these assets 
are measured at amortised cost. Interest earned 
from these assets is recognised when due.

Comparative Amounts
Where the presentation or reclassification of items 
in the financial report is amended, comparable 
amounts shall be reclassified unless reclassification 
is impracticable. 

Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies 
The University of the South Pacific has on-going 
exposures to foreign currency, liquidity risk and interest 
rate risk through its normal operations.
The overarching policies and objectives of the 
University’s treasury management activities are defined 
as being the “management and control of its cash flows, 
banking, and investment transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks”.

The Finance and Investments Committee reviews and 
approves policies for managing each of these risks, 
which are summarised below.

Liquidity Risk
The University’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding to meet its day-to-
day obligations, whilst minimising the utilisation 
of bank overdrafts, which in practice, are to be 
used for contingency purposes only.
Daily operating funds are maintained with the 
approved bankers in the University’s operating 
bank accounts while surpluses are invested within 
approved guidelines. This arrangement covers 
local, regional and international bank accounts 
which are operated by the University.

p

q 

r

s

t

u

v

w
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Significant Accounting Policies 
(continued)
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Subventions within campuses or from the main 
Laucala campus to other campuses are carried out 
in order to maintain sufficient cash balances in all 
campuses for the funding of day-to-day operations.

Foreign Currency Risk 
The University has transactional currency exposures. 
Such exposures arise from receipts or payments 
in currencies other than the University’s main 
operating currency (FJD), as well as accounting 
for the regional campuses various currency 
denominations.

The University maintains off-shore bank accounts 
in its efforts to provide natural hedge against 
currency exposures.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity 
to a reasonably possible change in the Australian 
dollar (AUD), Solomon Island dollar (SBD), 
British pound (GBP) and Vanuatu vatu (VUV) 
exchange rate on the University’s surplus, with all 
other variables held constant:

As at 

31 December 2010 

31 December 2009 

 

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  
(continued)

Increase/(decrease) 
in AUD, SBD, GBP 

and VUV exchange 
rate against FJD

Effect on 
surplus ($)

Interest Rate Risk
The University’s exposure to the changes in market 
interest rates relates primarily to the investment of 
surplus cash into at call or short term deposits as 
well as through finance lease and utilisation of bank 
overdrafts.  

Short-term investments are either rolled over at 
maturity at interest rates applicable on roll-over 
dates, or converted to operational use if the need 
arises at the time of maturity. Interest on bank 
overdrafts is subject to changes in market interest 
rates.

Long-term investments are not feasible due to 
the nature of operations within the University, 
therefore, avoiding the risk of a cashflow mismatch 
or a liquidity shortfall.

Lending Facilities - Debt, Refinancing and 
Granting Security
The University ensures that its borrowing, 
private financing and partnership arrangements 
are negotiated, structured, documented and the 
maturity profile of the raised monies managed, with 
a view to obtaining competitive and favourable 
terms in light of market conditions prevailing at 
the time.

Prior to entering into or negotiating for any 
agreement to increase lending facilities (including 
leases) or re-finance the University’s current 
borrowing arrangements, approval from the 
Finance and Investments Committee (FIC) must 
be obtained.

In raising capital finance, those with delegated 
authority will take account of:

the University’s powers and rules and, in 
particular the University’s Charter, Statutes, 
Financial Regulations and Scheme of 
Financial Delegations;

any legal or fiscal statutory restrictions; and

the terms and covenants of borrowing.

i

ii

iii

10%

(10%)

10%

(10%)

(883,826)

1,080,232

(811,960)

992,395
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Government contributions

Student tuition fees

Development assistance 

Trading activities

Consultancy income

Other income

Release of deferred revenue

Interest income

Foreign currency gain

Income

$

Notes 2010 2009

$

1 

2 

3 

4 

4a

5 

6 

48,924,962 

33,472,981 

27,540,216 

14,863,350 

924,726 

7,629,718 

3,922,051 

1,848,629 

 -   

49,923,430 

27,339,344 

22,077,711 

13,373,779 

1,870,590 

7,273,430 

3,633,384 

1,352,417 

1,375,625 

Total operating income 139,126,633 128,219,710 

Staff costs

Operating costs

Depreciation

Provision for doubtful debts

Write down in value of inventories

Foreign currency loss

Interest on finance lease

Expenditure

$

Notes 2010 2009

$

7 

8 

14 

64,604,367 

57,906,853 

5,732,796 

4,027,298 

383,691 

1,694,012 

 -   

55,536,695 

51,808,523 

5,101,458 

(317,634)

 141,468 

 -   

31,250 

Total operating expenditure 134,349,017 112,301,760 

Surplus for the year 4,777,616 15,917,950

The  accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2010

(Restated)
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Cash and short - term deposits

Other current financial assets

Prepayments

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Current Assets

$

Notes 2010 2009

$

12 

12 

11 

10 

9 

14,781,546 

39,393,285 

652,453 

15,036,718 

5,031,712 

74,895,714 

22,525,137 

22,145,242 

451,962 

10,448,570 

4,748,803 

60,319,714 

Total assets 246,132,791 187,123,425 

The  accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 171,237,077 

171,237,077 

126,803,711 

126,803,711 

Creditors and accruals

Development assistance (projects) unexpended

Current liabilities

$

Notes 2010 2009

$

16a

16b

20,042,932 

20,638,170 

40,681,102 

17,039,905 

10,077,621 

27,117,526 

Total liabilities 41,563,870 27,117,526 

Non Current liabilities

Creditors and accruals 882,768 

882,768 

 -   

 -   

Net assets 204,568,921 160,005,899

Deferred revenue reserve

Endowment capital

Retained earnings

Funds and reserves

$

Notes 2010 2009

$

154,354,299 

7,688,892 

42,525,730 

204,568,921

115,094,458 

7,163,327 

37,748,114

160,005,899

Represented by:

Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2010

(Restated)
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Recurrent activities

Development assistance - recurrent

Government contributions

Interest received

Student tuition fees

Trading Activities

Other receipts

Staff costs

Other operating costs

Normal operating activities

$

Notes 2009

10,774,832 

49,443,406 

1,850,972 

30,594,452 

14,556,698 

8,822,607 

116,042,967

(61,897,512)

(48,152,326)

(110,049,838) 

The  accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

2010

$

7,470,355 

47,481,452 

1,352,418 

27,205,310 

12,755,214 

8,849,989 

105,114,738 

(51,590,453)

(32,290,453)

(83,880,906)

Net cash flows provided by recurrent activities 5,993,129 21,233,832 

Project activities

Development assistance - projects

Staff costs - projects

Other operating costs - projects

22,616,383 

(2,706,854)

(9,836,218)

(12,543,072)

8,720,735 

(2,792,798)

(8,714,100)

(11,506,898)

Net cash flows provided by/(used in) project activities 10,073,311 (2,786,163)

Total net cash flows provided by normal 
operating activities 16,066,440 18,447,669 13a

Investing activities

Payment for property plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets

Net payment for other current financial assets

(6,994,009)13b

6,139 

(16,722,480)

(4,182,963)

 -   

(2,352,951)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (23,710,350) (6,535,914)

Financing activities

Payment of finance lease liabilities (99,681) (192,823)

Net cash flow used in financing activities (99,681) (192,823)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

(7,743,591)

22,525,137 

(7,743,591)

14,781,546

11,718,932

10,806,205 

11,718,932 

22,525,13712

(Restated)
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The  accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

Statement of Changes in Funds & Reserves
At 31 December 2010

Balance at 1 January

Surplus for the year

Effect of change in accounting policy

Balance at year end

Income and expenditure account

$

Notes 2010 2009

$

20 

 37,748,114 

 4,777,616 

 -   

 42,525,730 

 28,288,495 

 15,917,950 

 (6,458,331)

 37,748,114 

Endowment capital

Balance at 1 January

Foreign exchange gain for the year

Balance at year end  

  7,163,327 

525,565 

 7,688,892 

  4,860,381 

 2,302,946 

 7,163,327 

Analysed as:

Endowments - general

Endowments - specific

Total endowment capital  

   94,133 

 7,594,759  

 7,688,892  

   94,133 

 7,069,194  

7,163,327  

Deferred revenue reserve

Balance at 1 January

Net additions during the year

Release during the year - depreciation

Release during the year - disposals

Balance at year end

 

    115,094,458 

 43,937,963 

 (4,678,122)

 -     

154,354,299 

    118,777,305 

 599,296 

 (4,122,469)

 (159,674)  

 115,094,458 

(Restated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Cook Islands

Fiji

Kiribati

Marshall Islands

Nauru

Niue

Samoa

Solomon Islands

Tokelau

Tonga

Tuvalu

Vanuatu

$

2009 Total

277,241 

23,519,860 

1,252,479 

104,373 

71,757 

32,617 

955,668 

3,728,083 

22,832 

1,027,424 

453,371 

1,170,937 

Special Grant

$

1     Government Contributions General Grant 2010 Total

$$

76,649 

14,077,342 

154,929 

58,710 

29,355 

58,710 

704,519 

79,911 

 -   

99,481 

58,710 

910,004 

353,890 

37,597,202 

1,407,408 

163,083 

101,112 

91,327 

1,660,187 

3,807,994 

22,832 

1,126,905 

512,081 

2,080,941 

361,112 

38,364,492 

1,436,131 

166,411 

103,175 

93,190 

1,694,068 

3,885,708 

23,298 

1,149,903 

522,532 

2,123,410 

48,924,962 49,923,430 32,616,642 16,308,320 

Regional students

International students

Distance and flexible learning

College of Foundation Studies

Republic of Marshall Islands (RMI)

Master of Business Administration

Others

$

20092     Student Tuition Fees 2010

$

15,776,026 

480,975 

16,257,001 

7,502,179 

23,759,180 

2,923,838 

750,374 

2,197,348 

3,842,241 

10,847,563 

493,575 

11,341,138 

6,470,541 

17,811,679 

2,746,272 

 1,132,700 

1,937,803 

3,710,890 

33,472,981 27,339,344 

(Restated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Australian Aid

New Zealand Aid

European Union Aid

IAS & Other Institute Projects

United Nations 

Others

$

20093     Development Assistance 2010

$

5,113,087 

8,683,812 

5,648,669 

980,463 

1,638,092 

1,975,798 

(592,519)

4,092,814 

4,340,566 

5,087,488 

3,129,789 

1,841,109 

2,607,265 

2,260,579 

633,688 

2,177,227 

27,540,216 22,077,711 

Recurrent

Projects

Recurrent

Projects
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(continued)

Book Centre

Catering services

 - Laucala

Residential services

- Laucala

- Emalus 

- Alafua

Gym and Community Recreation Centre

ICT Park

Others

$

2009

2,602,827 

1,180,449 

253,815 

2010

$

4     Trading Activities 2010 2009

$$

9,984,134 

 -   

4,037,091 

400,042 

267,861 

174,222 

2,541,054 

714,630 

235,315 

8,087,226 

1,077,743 

3,490,999 

270,486 

251,110 

196,215 

13,373,779 14,863,350 

(Restated)(Restated)

Consultancy work with Tonga police

Dairy Farms Fiji - blue prawns project

Professional services provided and Project Consultancies

Review of Department of Co-operatives

Training and teaching

Others

$

20094a     Consultancy Income 2010

$

17,059 

50,403 

492,900 

 -   

144,877 

219,487 

83,728 

96,082 

1,224,845 

46,000 

385,059 

34,876 

924,726 1,870,590 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Administration cost recovery

Course material and text book sales

Faculty and support units’ income

ITS domain name registration

Laboratory income

Miscellaneous student activities

Other income

Publication sales

Rental income

$

20095     Other Income 2010

$

339,036 

2,972,577 

277,369 

177,633 

1,027,625 

1,616,527 

772,016 

66,030 

380,905 

430,065 

3,362,941 

91,235 

152,709 

719,648 

1,000,397 

960,122 

234,272 

322,041 

7,629,718 7,273,430 

Depreciation charge for the year

     Less: charge on items acquired

        through loans or finance leases

        through normal operating activities

Release of deferred revenue - depreciation

Fixed asset additions for the year

     Less: items acquired through loans

         or finance leases

         or normal operating activities

     Less: items acquired through donations

         Japan Pacific ICT Centre buildings

         Japan Pacific ICT Centre equipment

         Donations - I-Direct Equipments

         Purchases for USPSA

Increase in deferred revenue - additions

Reversal of prior year additions

$

2009

5,732,796 

(144,808)

(909,866)

(48,404,386)

4,466,423 

40,723,309 

1,888,702 

565,025 

 4,856 

2010

$

6     Release of Deferred Revenue

4,678,122 

(756,071)

 -   

5,101,458 

(372,434)

(606,554)

(4,293,176)

 3,693,879 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

4,122,470 

(599,297)

110,211 

3,633,384 3,922,051 

(Restated)

Net Transfer
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(continued)

Academic and comparable staff

Intermediate and junior staff

Hourly paid staff

Provision for leave entitlement

Senior management

Total staff costs

Total staff costs for 2010 include strategic plan staff cost of $557,340.
Academic and comparable staff and senior management pay includes 8.2% salary adjustment 
for 2009 and 2010.

$

20097     Staff Costs 2010

$

43,587,184 

12,054,262 

6,890,215 

299,215 

1,773,491 

64,604,367 

37,325,593 

10,751,480 

6,321,773 

(407,250)

1,545,099 

55,536,695 

Staff numbers (headcounts) by category as at 31 December:

Academic and comparable staff

Intermediate and junior staff 

Hourly paid staff

Senior management

Total staff numbers

540 

544 

351 

8 

1,443 

500 

508 

368 

8 

1,384 

Annualized taxable emoluments for higher paid staff

$100,000 - $119,999

$120,000 - $139,999

$140,000 - $159,999

$160,000 - $179,999

$180,000 - $199,999

$200,000 - $219,999

$220,000 - $239,999

$240,000 - $259,999

$260,000 - $279,999

34 

18 

15 

6 

2 

1 

 -   

1 

1 

78 

27 

7 

9 

2 

2 

1 

 -   

1 

1 

50 

Reflects current annualised taxable emoluments after the 8.2% salary adjustment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Cost of sales

Travel and related expenses

Student-related expenses

Grounds and maintenance

Consultancy expenses:

    GMES project

    Other

    Total consultancy expenses

Utilities

Telecommunications

PRIDE in-country expenses

Library books

Staff recruitment and passages

Printing and stationery

Insurance premiums

Computer software and hardware

Workshop expenses

Advertising

Hospitality/expenditure on meetings

Teaching materials

Operating costs - strategic plan

Sub-total

Other items of expenditure

Fees paid to auditors:

    External audit

    Internal audit

    Other services

    Projects

Honorarium:

   Council

   Finance and investments committee

   Audit and risk committee

$

2009

225,957 

2,467,974 

2010

$

8     Operating Costs

10,265,704 

5,269,709 

6,871,050 

3,371,946 

2,693,931 

3,850,640 

3,238,045 

106,671 

2,092,981 

1,249,441 

2,356,754 

1,593,345 

938,726 

1,963,055 

1,559,225 

875,740 

1,319,135 

953,609 

50,569,707 

7,031,726 

39,374 

168,000 

6,693 

45,957 

 24,444 

 6,984 

 13,968 

636,570 

1,712,066 

8,972,509 

3,856,307 

5,108,490 

2,527,981 

2,348,636 

2,736,312 

2,489,794 

1,707,183 

2,100,239 

1,296,836 

2,167,617 

1,278,677 

1,273,224 

1,344,314 

1,142,304 

503,442 

1,406,955 

 -   

42,260,820 

9,192,126 

39,229 

223,806 

 16,542 

 37,000 

 21,000 

 6,000 

 12,000 

51,808,52357,906,853 

(Restated)

Total operating costs
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(continued)

Balance at 1 January 2009

Additions

Expensed

Write down in value

Cost or valuation at 31 December 2009

Balance  at 1 January 2010

Additions

Expensed

Write down in value

Cost or valuation at 31 December 2010

$

490,436 

(15,191)

(8,598)

 47,116 

513,763 

513,763 

100,251 

(25,302)

 -   

588,712 

$

9     Inventories

159,781 

(213,840)

163,129 

 41,936 

151,006 

151,006 

529,079 

(518,490)

 -   

161,595 

17,277 

470,387 

(461,478)

 -   

26,186 

26,186 

76,256 

(100,825)

 -   

1,617 

4,803,413 

6,263,830 

(6,176,972)

(141,468)

4,748,803 

4,748,803 

10,134,134 

(9,462,764)

(388,461)

5,031,712 

$

4,135,919 

6,022,474 

(5,870,025)

(230,520)

4,057,848 

4,057,848 

9,428,548 

(8,818,147)

(388,461)

4,279,788 

$$

Goods & 
Publications

Academic
Gowns

Maintenance Catering & 
Domestic TOTAL

Total cost of inventories

Less: unrealised profit

Less: provision for obsolescence

Cost or valuation at year end

$

2009Analysis of value of inventories 2010

$

6,995,475 

(1,291,135)

(672,628)

5,031,712 

6,328,875 

(871,517)

(708,555)

4,748,803 

(Restated)

Book centre - inventory

Book centre - goods in transit

Regional campuses - books

Regional campuses - course materials

Institute of Pacific Studies

Institute of Education

Less: provision for obsolescence

Cost or valuation at year end

$

2009Analysis of goods and publications 2010

$

2,058,768 

422,503 

1,432,573 

353,894 

604,268 

65,232 

4,937,238

(657,450)

4,279,788  

1,759,151 

992,723 

300,701 

991,912 

617,477 

84,491 

4,746,455

(688,607)

4,057,848 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Government contributions

Trade

Students

Staff

VAT/GST receivable

Other

Less: provision for doubtful debts

$

200910     Accounts Receivable 2010

$

1,456,796 

1,063,678 

5,332,893 

108,064 

4,894,999 

8,291,789 

21,148,219 

(6,111,501)

15,036,718 

1,975,240 

1,423,626 

2,454,364 

118,453 

1,787,219 

4,773,871 

12,532,773 

(2,084,203)

10,448,570 

(Restated)

Notes

10a

10b

10c

10d

10e

10f

10g

Fiji

Marshall Islands

Nauru

Niue

Solomon Islands

Tokelau

Tonga

Ageing of government contributions due:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days

Between 1 and 2 years old

Between 2 and 3 years old

More than 3 years old

 -   

 -   

61,191 

 -   

1,265,111 

47,396 

83,098 

1,456,796

1,166,748 

290,048 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

1,456,796

130,451 

279,521 

398,552 

189,353 

907,067 

 -   

70,296 

1,975,240 

1,154,092 

90,693 

107,213 

365,730 

 154,095 

 103,417 

1,975,240 

Any overpayments by member countries are classified as creditors.

10a    Contributions due from governments:

$

20092010

$
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Laucala campus and book centre

Emalus  campus and book centre

Less: provision for doubtful debts

Ageing of trade debtors due:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days

Between 1 and 2 years old

Between 2 and 3 years old

More than 3 years old

1,041,032 

22,646 

1,063,678 

(573,875)

489,803

224,840 

529,927 

150,347 

69,161 

31,639 

57,764 

1,063,678 

1,165,833 

257,793 

1,423,626 

(99,154)

1,324,472 

 -   

1,041,860 

169,798 

124,462 

79,483 

6,755 

 1,268 

1,423,626 

10b    Trade Debtors

$

20092010

$

Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Laucala

Alafua

Emalus

Other regional campuses

Less: provision for doubtful debts

Ageing of student debtors due:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 day

Between 1 and 2 years old

Between 2 and 3 years old

More than 3 years old

2,695,961 

171,555 

1,236,636 

1,228,741 

5,332,893 

(4,721,982)

610,911 

376,786 

1,778,094 

930,124 

515,061 

568,820 

1,164,008 

5,332,893 

1,127,540 

32,748 

49,476 

1,244,600 

2,454,364 

(1,885,689)

568,675 

272,139 

509,863 

349,140 

237,800 

386,012 

699,410 

2,454,364 

10c     Student Debtors

$

20092010

$
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Laucala

Alafua

Less: provision for doubtful debts

Ageing of staff debtors due:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 day

Between 1 and 2 years old

Between 2 and 3 years old

More than 3 years old

105,638 

2,426 

108,064 

(98,344)

9,720 

2,259 

3,278 

4,183 

 -   

 -   

98,344 

108,064 

114,585 

3,868 

118,453 

(99,360)

19,093 

 -   

 -   

 -   

19,920 

188 

98,345 

118,453 

10d     Staff Debtors

$

20092010

$

Laucala Book Centre

Alafua Book Centre

Laucala Japan Pacific ICT Centre

Less: provision for doubtful debts

Ageing of VAT/ GST due:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days

Between 1 and 2 years old

Between 2 and 3 years old

More than 3 years old

 2,667,313 

 64,012 

 2,163,674 

4,894,999 

(717,300)

4,177,699 

96,153 

1,525,531 

1,486,097 

365,445 

305,809 

1,115,964 

4,894,999 

 1,787,219 

 -   

 -   

1,787,219 

-

1,787,219 

112,852 

65,950 

186,643 

305,809 

398,685 

717,280 

1,787,219 

10e     VAT/GST receivable

$

20092010

$
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Development assistance partners - projects

Interest receivable

Other debtors

Ageing of other debtors due:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days

Between 1 and 2 years old

Between 2 and 3 years old

More than 3 years old

 7,565,682 

 578,817 

 147,290  

8,291,789 

2,215,522 

2,619,508 

2,816,125 

327,538 

123,466 

189,630  

8,291,789 

 2,852,709 

 581,160 

 1,340,002 

4,773,871 

426,955 

637,761 

603,491 

2,516,853 

570,542 

18,269 

4,773,871 

10f    Other Debtors

$

20092010

$

Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Balance at 1 January

Additional provision made during the year

Balance at 31 December

 2,084,203 

4,027,298 

6,111,501 

 1,989,418 

94,785 

2,084,203 

10g    Movement in provision for doubtful debts

$

20092010

$

The creation and release of provision for doubtful debts is shown under Provison for doubtful debts 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Amounts charged to the provision account are written off when there is no expectation of recovery.

Laucala

Alafua

Emalus

Laucala Book centre

 554,366 

12,873 

 -   

85,214 

652,453 

 357,359 

 6,089 

49,248 

39,266 

451,962 

11    Prepayments

$

20092010

$
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Cash and short - term deposits

- Current accounts

- Term deposits (3 months or less)

- Cash on hand and petty cash

Other current financial assets

Other current financial assets comprise term deposits maturing between 3 and 12 months. 

$

200912     Cash and Cash Equivalents 2010

$

8,742,352 

6,013,968 

25,226 

14,781,546 

39,393,285 

54,174,831 

8,684,293 

13,817,456 

23,388 

22,525,137 

22,145,242 

44,670,379 

a) Where held

In Fiji

With other regional banks

In other overseas accounts

49,589,884 

2,983,447 

1,601,500 

54,174,831 

41,413,546 

2,396,050 

860,783 

44,670,379 

b) The following term deposits are denominated in the following currencies but stated in Fijian Dollars:

Fijian dollars

Australian dollars

Solomon Island dollars

British pounds

Cash & cash equivalents denominated in other currencies are exposed to foreign currency risk.

35,685,164 

8,240,586 

1,467,535 

13,968 

45,407,253 

27,031,137 

7,430,446 

1,485,710 

15,403 

35,962,696 

c) Comprising:

University funds

Development assistance (projects)

Endowment funds

Development assistance (projects) and Endowment funds are restricted, not available for University’s recurrent expenditure.

22,068,633 

21,536,673 

10,569,525 

54,174,831 

23,670,126 

11,463,362 

9,536,891 

44,670,379 
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(continued)

Surplus - statement of comprehensive income

Adjustments to income and expenditure:

Release of deferred revenue

Depreciation

Provision for doubtful debts

Loss on disposal of assets

Provision for leave entitlement

Write down in value of inventories

Income and expenditure cash surplus

Increase in inventories

Increase in accounts receivable

(Increase)/decrease  in prepayments

Increase in development assistance (projects) 

Increase in creditors

$

200913a    Reconciliation of Net Cash from Operating Activities to 
          Statement of Comprehensive Income

2010

$

4,777,616 

(3,922,051)

5,732,796 

4,027,298 

3,601 

299,215 

383,691 

11,302,166 

(666,600)

(8,615,447)

(200,488)

10,560,549 

3,686,260 

15,917,949 

(3,633,384)

5,101,458 

(317,636)

 -   

(407,250)

141,469 

16,802,606 

(86,859)

(1,186,982)

235,150 

(507,675)

3,191,429

16,066,440 18,447,669 

(Restated)

Net cash provided by normal operating activities

13b    During the year, the University received fixed assets of $42.6m donated by the Japanese 
Government and $0.6m from Asian Development Bank and JICA. These transactions have not 
been reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Cost or Valuation:

Deemed cost at 1 January 2010

Additions

Disposals

Transfers between asset classes

Deemed cost at 31 December 2010

Accumulated depreciation:

Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan 2010

Charge for the year

Disposals

Accumulated depreciation at 31 Dec 2010 

Net carrying amount at 31 Dec 2010

Net carrying amount at 31 Dec 2009

$

10,035,633 

 4,796,961 

 (56,145)

 108,529 

14,884,978 

 6,235,559 

 1,857,848 

 (56,144)

8,037,263 

6,847,715 

3,800,073 

$

14    Property, Plant and Equipment

1,590,890 

 315,243 

 (123,153)

 -   

1,782,980 

 901,829 

 297,373 

 (113,414)

1,085,788 

697,192 

689,062 

 2,080,254 

 3,760,942 

 -   

 (1,741,389)

 4,099,807 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 4,099,807 

 2,080,254 

153,551,841 

50,175,902 

 (179,298)

 -   

203,548,445  

 

 26,748,130 

 5,732,796 

 (169,558)

32,311,368 

171,237,077 

126,803,711 

$

139,845,064 

 41,302,756 

 -   

 1,632,860 

182,780,680 

 19,610,742 

 3,577,575 

 -   

23,188,317 

159,592,363 

120,234,322 

$$

Property Equipment 
& Furniture

Vehicles 
& Vessels

Work in 
Progress TOTAL

Assets under finance lease 
The carrying amount of tangible fixed assets was nil (2009: $106,350) in respect of assets held under finance lease reported under the 
equipment category relating to PABX equipment. The depreciation charge for the year was $88,700 (2009: $260,215).

Work in progress 
Work in progress relates to costs for property-related projects where the project has not been completed. The costs will be capitalised once all 
major items of expenditure, other than the payment of retention monies, have been incurred.
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Continuing from 2009:

Austra learn accommodation

Japan Pacific ICT Centre building project

Medical centre renovations

Student car park

Tree Tops/Barista/USPSA renovations

FBE roof replacement

Regional campuses - MYOB implementation

New projects:

120 bed hostel

Lab equipment replacement installations

ITS-IBM blade server-SAN storage

Other ITS projects

Improve campus infrastructure and developments

Roof replacement of building 202

FBE tourism lounge and toilets

New modules in Banner

Renovation of staff housings

Concrete roading 

Lift in FSTE building

Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2010

This is represented by:

Deferred revenue

Carrying amount of properties acquired directly or through loans:

    Statham street campus

    Services complex

    Residential block

Carrying amount of assets funded from normal operating activities

$

2009Carrying amount of work in progress projects at 31 Dec 2010

$

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 55,600 

 1,938,337 

 575,017 

 183,775 

 514,656 

 400,000 

 35,550 

 34,898 

 1,795 

 136,280 

 87,504 

 136,395 

4,099,807 

84,931 

 934,936 

5,897 

248,037 

 285,622 

 412,302 

 108,529 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

2,080,254 

(Restated)

Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

14 Property, Plant & Equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of fixed assets to related accounts: $

171,237,077 

154,354,299 

4,025,509 

110,880

784,000 

11,962,389 

171,237,077 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

15    Financing Facilities

The University has access to overdraft facilities of $4,084,818 (2009: $4,075,007) with various banks across the 
region for which all conditions precedent have been met. As at 31 December 2010, Nil (2009: $103,000) was 
utilised.

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash 
and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2010 is $14,781,546 (2009: $22,628,139).

Accrual for leave entitlement

Member countries’ contributions received in advance 

Obligations under finance leases

Other creditors and accruals

Payroll creditors

Student creditors

Student fees received in advance

Trade creditors

$

200916a    Creditors and Accruals 2010

$

3,074,598 

2,599,718 

 -   

202,568 

3,374,499 

82,923 

551,985 

10,156,641 

20,042,932 

2,775,384 

1,788,585 

 99,681 

643,657 

1,557,104 

78,098 

173,353 

9,924,043 

17,039,905 

(Restated)

Development assistance (projects) unexpended

$

200916b    Project Funds Unexpended 2010

$

20,638,170 10,077,621 

(Restated)
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The commitments in respect of leased assets are as follows:

Not later than one year

Deduct future finance charges

Lease liability

Analysed as:

Current liability

$

200917    Commitments 2010

$

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

-   

 -   

 101,906 

(2,225)

 99,681 

 99,681 

 99,681 

(Restated)

Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

a) Finance lease commitments

The commitments in respect of leased assets are as follows:

Expiring within one year

Expiring within more than one year but less than two years

Expiring within more than two years but less than five years

 652,455 

 652,455 

 163,114 

 1,468,024 

 683,255 

 683,255 

 877,169 

 2,243,679 

b) Operating lease commitments

The University has an operating lease with Fuji Xerox Fiji for the provision of managed multi function device services. Minimum 
monthly lease of $54,371 for five years subject to adjustments based upon actual utilization.

c) Capital commitments

The University has a capital commitment of $1,453,752 arising from 120 bed hostel under construction (total cost: $3,392,089).  
The balance has not been recognised as a liability at balance date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(continued)

Contingent Liabilities:

As at 31 December, the University’s contingent liabilities are estimated to be:

Fiji Electricity Authority - guarantees given

EDF programme management unit - guarantees given

FIRCA - customs bond

Ministry of Primary Industries, Land and Water

VAT on contributions received from Fijian government (1992 - 2007)

Contingent Assets:

VAT on Fijian government contributions (1992 - 2007)

$

Dec 200918    Contingent Assets and Liabilities Dec 2010

$

158,857 

223,744 

331,645 

8,963 

39,802,087 

40,525,296

39,802,087 

158,857 

223,744 

331,645 

8,963 

39,802,087 

40,525,296 

39,802,087

(Restated)

The Fiji Islands Revenue Customs Authority advised in a letter dated June 2007 that the University may be liable to pay VAT on 
contributions received from the Government of Fiji since 1992. The University has made an effort in 2009 to close the matter with 
FIRCA, but no reply nor any formal assessment has been issued by FIRCA since the University’s last communication dated 20 October 
2009. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in the financial  statements. 

The University claims Government contributions on a VAT exclusive basis. In the event that the tax liability is considered probable, the 
University would make a claim for the short fall in payment of contributions and recognise a receivable amount to the same value as the 
potential tax liability. 

There are various legal claims and trade disputes pending against the University at the balance date. The University considers these 
claims, arising in the normal course of business,  to be immaterial and mostly spurious. No amounts have been provided in relation to 
any of these matters.

19    Insurance

The University has taken cover for combined material damage and business interruption at a replacement value of 
$317,717,612 (2009: $317,717,612).

Please refer to Statement of Accounting Policies, paragraph 1(o) (iii).

The effect of the change in accounting policy affected the following accounts which have been restated:

Increase in Development assistance (projects) unexpended

Decrease in Development assistance income

Decrease in other debtors - Development assistance partners income

Decrease in retained earnings

$

200920    Change in Accounting Policy

(10,077,621)

766,581 

2,852,709 

6,458,331 



Lapita
Lapita potsherd image courtesy 

of Dr Frank Thomas

The Lapita people are believed to be the 
common ancestors of the Polynesians, 
Micronesians and Austronesian-speaking 
Melanesians. Their distinctive art and 
culture are subtly exhibited in these 
pages as the theme for this year’s Annual 
Report which was inspired and based on 
the shapes, geometric patterns and some 
anthropomorphic figures found on the 
pottery of the Lapita people.

Conceptually, these graphic elements used 
throughout the report signify the connection 
of the South Pacific people through their 
Lapita ancestry - the same connection the 
University of the South Pacific continues 
to strengthen by bringing people from the 
region together.
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